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I. Summary of the Report  
 

 
      

Jadranski naftovod dioničko društvo has accomplished exceptional business results in 2020, achieving the 

highest level of total revenues in the history of the Company. Total revenues in the amount of HRK 790,037 

thousand are 10.6% higher than in the previous year and exceed the planned revenues by 11.6%. 

Revenues from the core activity, including oil transportation, oil storage and storage of refinery products 

amount to HRK 757,851 thousand and are 14.3% higher than in the previous year, exceeding the planned 

amount by 8.2%. There is an increase in revenues from all segments of the core activity, mostly from the 

segment of oil storage based on realized investments in capacity increase, business cooperation with new 

foreign customers and seizing market opportunities. 

Total expenses in the amount of HRK 438,486 thousand are 2.6% lower than planned and 11.1% higher than 

in previous year due to the increase in depreciation charge resulting from completed investment projects 

and putting them into operation and the growth of production services and electricity due to the larger 

volume of activity. The Company settles all its liabilities in accordance with the maturity. 

The reported gross profit of HRK 351,551 thousand and the net profit of HRK 288,106 thousand are 10.0% 

higher than in the previous year, and 36.2% higher than planned. 

During 2020, HRK 492,549 thousand was invested in investments, mostly in the reconstruction and 

upgrading of storage space at Sisak Terminal (two crude oil tanks with a volume of 80,000 m3 each) and 

Žitnjak Terminal (tank for storage of petroleum products with a volume of 20,000 m3) .  

Regarding the COVID-19 virus pandemic, the Company closely monitors the development of the situation, 

the measures of the Government of the Republic of Croatia and competent institutions and implements its 

own measures to prevent the spread of the COVID-19 virus at all its business locations. The company 

monitors the situation in the markets and is in constant contact with customers and suppliers. The 

Management Board believes that it is possible to maintain operations at a level guaranteeing the 

MSc. Stjepan Adanić, President 

of the Management Board 

Vladislav Veselica, Member of 

the Management Board 
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satisfaction of shareholders, business partners, employees and all other key actors of the Company in future 

periods. 

This Annual Management Report (Annual Statement of the Company) has been prepared on the basis 

of the obligation contained in Article 250.a of the Companies Act and Article 21. of the Accounting Act. The 

report refers to JANAF d.d. because the subsidiaries JANAF - upravljanje projektima d.o.o., Zagreb and 

JANAF-TERMINAL BROD d.o.o. Brod, Bosnia and Herzegovina carry out only intra-company transactions 

whose volume is materially insignificant. 

All key parts of the Company's business success in 2020 and the comparison with the previous period 

are elaborated in detail on the pages of this report and in the basic financial statements, which together 

constitute the Company's Annual Report. 

With the aim of informing the public, as well as existing and future investors, we are pleased to present 

the most important business results in previous periods with special reference to business operations in 

2020 and future expectations. 

In the reporting year, the Company continued to operate predominantly in the markets of oil transport 

and storage of oil and oil derivatives. Given the relatively limited market and the number of customers, 

special attention is paid to customer relations, improving the quality of services, increasing the number of 

customers, market shares and sales volume while achieving mutual benefits. However, as the global, 

European and regional environment is increasingly aware of global climate change, of the need to limit 

greenhouse gas emissions and to introduce a low-carbon economy, including a strong transition to 

renewable energy, the past year has brought intensification of changes in the shaping of strategic 

development towards the so-called green transition whose realization is to mark the following years.  

During the last year, the oil transportation market was marked by the consequences of the global 

economic crisis caused by the corona virus pandemic which resulted in a temporary reduction in 

consumption of petroleum products due to anti-epidemiological measures in the business sector and 

restrictions on the movement of citizens. Nevertheless, JANAF transported 6,8 million tons of oil last year, 

an increase of 5.1% over the previous year. At the same time, oil transportation for MOL Hungarian Oil and 

Gas PLC reached a record level after it’s renewal at the end of 2013. Transportation of oil for the needs of 

the modernized Pančevo Refinery, owned by The Serbian Oil Industry (NIS), increased slightly compared to 

the last year. Transportation for Rijeka Refinery (INA-Industrija nafte) was slightly lower than in 2019, due 

to the overhaul of the plant. There was no transportation for Brod Refinery, after the refinery was damaged 

in a fire at the end of 2018. With the expected world and regional economic recovery, after the vaccination 

of the population, there is a potential for creating conditions for further growth of oil transportation 

through the JANAF system.  

In the market of oil storage and oil derivatives storage, the sharp decline in oil prices in the first part of 

the year and the subsequent constant trend of its recovery, with mitigation of the crises, created the 

conditions for growing demand for storage space, which JANAF successfully used. In these circumstances, 

Omišalj Terminal functioned as a strategic Adriatic center for oil and oil derivatives storage last year, with 
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a more intensive presence of large global and regional oil companies (Glencore, Petraco, Vitol, Litasco, BP, 

MOL, INA, Crodux derivati dva and others).  

The share of exports of more than 65% in revenues from core activity shows that foreign users have 

recognized JANAF as a safe and reliable partner, capable of meeting high world standards in the provision 

of transportation services and storage of oil and oil derivatives. In addition, the Hydrocarbons Agency 

(CHA), user of oil storage services since July 2008 and storage of oil derivatives since January 2010, has 

remained a stable partner in the past year. 

Thanks to continuous investments in new plants and infrastructure, new business opportunities are 

opening up, constantly and strongly influenced by changing circumstances in the volatile market. Due to 

the exploitation of market opportunities, storage capacities are constantly adjusted to the needs of existing 

and potential users. JANAF’s total capacity for oil storage amounts to 1,94 million m³, and for oil derivatives 

to 222 thousand m³, and last year two oil storage tanks with a capacity of 160 thousand m³ were built at 

the Sisak Terminal and a tank for storage of oil derivatives with a capacity of 20 thousand m³ at the Žitnjak 

Terminal. In addition, power engineering systems, technical protection systems, fire detection and fire 

protection systems and business informatics systems are being modernized and upgraded, which raises the 

level of security of oil supply, as well as security and protection of the environment, people and equipment. 

In the last ten years, HRK 3,38 billion has been invested in fixed tangible and intangible assets. 

Orientation towards the implementation of a long-term low-carbon development strategy was 

symbolically inaugurated in December 2020 with putting into service of JANAF's first integrated solar 

photovoltaic power plant with a nominal power of 90 kW. This is the first JANAF’s renewable energy project, 

situated on 600 m2 of the roof area of the auxiliary building at the Žitnjak Terminal. It will produce 108,540 

kWh of electricity per year, save HRK 70 thousand in electricity costs per year and reduce CO2 emissions by 

65 tons. The construction of this photovoltaic power plant was financed by own resources. 

JANAF is persistently and dedicatedly taking account of sustainable development, which presupposes a 

balanced integration of economic, social and environmental factors in everyday business operations. Social 

factors of sustainable development include efficient and considerate human resource management, 

continuous education of employees, social dialogue, preservation and adherence to ethical values and 

building exemplary relationships and investments in local communities in the business environment and 

society as a whole, based on socially responsible business operations. Environmental factors of sustainable 

development include protection of health, safety and environment at all business locations, management 

of risks and circumstances related to climate change, with emphasis on energy efficiency and reduction of 

greenhouse gas emissions, and fire protection, management of environmental spills, waste management 

and water conservation are also very important.     

Regarding the events of 18 September, 2020, when the President of the Management Board of JANAF 

d.d., Dragan Kovačević and two other employees of the Company were sentenced to pre-trial detention due 

to reasonable doubts of committing criminal offences against official duty, the Company undertook a 

number of activities to ensure further legal and stable business operations. At the earliest convenience, the 
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Company recalled the previous President of the Management Board and appointed a new President of the 

Management Board from internal resources, who was able to take over the management of the Company's 

operations on short notice. After the appointment, the new management immediately began to analyse all 

relevant elements of the Company's business operations and financial position and subsequently audited 

the projects and performed or initiated an audit of internal processes and procedures, where deemed 

necessary. In this regard, all necessary personnel and organizational changes were made. All measures and 

activities taken have ensured the continuation of legal and stable operations of the Company, which 

successfully continued with regular operations and fulfilment of contractual obligations. 

 

II. Review of business activity in 2020 

Total revenues generated in 2020 in the amount of HRK 790,037 thousand are 10.6% higher than in the 

previous year and exceed the planned revenues by 11.6%.  

Revenues generated from oil storage, in the amount of HRK 235,658 thousand, account for 31.1% of 

revenues from core activity. Revenues from oil storage recorded an increase of 35.3% compared to the 

previous year and by 28.6% compared to the planned ones, due to the increase in the volume of activity.  

Revenues generated from oil storage, in the amount of HRK 115,804 thousand, account for 15.3% of 

revenues from core activity. Revenues generated from storage of derivatives are higher by 15,1% than last 

year and by 3.5% than planned.  

Revenues generated from oil transport, amounting to HRK 406,389 thousand, account for 53.6% of 

revenues from Company’s core activity. Revenues generated from oil transport increased by 4.7% compared 

to the same period of the previous year and no deviation from the planned revenues was recorded. 

Total expenses in the amount of HRK 438,486 thousand are 2.6% lower than planned and 11.1% higher 

than in previous year due to the increase in depreciation charge resulting from completed investment 

projects and putting them into operation and the growth of production services and electricity due to the 

larger volume of activity. Reported depreciation costs in 2020 account for 42.2% of operating expenses 

(40.5% of total expenses) and are the result of a continuous intensive investment cycle. 

Profit gained for the year of Jadranski naftovod d.d. amounts to HRK 351,551 thousand, is 9.9% higher 

from the profit realized in the same period last year, and 36.3% higher than the planned one. After 

deduction of the profit gained for the calculated amount of profit tax, there is a net profit of HRK 288,8106 

that is 10.0% higher than last year and 36.2% higher than the planned. As in previous years, a positive cash 

flow from operating activities (HRK 443,313 thousand) was generated in 2020, which allowed financing of 

investments from its own resources. 

Free cash funds are invested with the aim of achieving maximum possible yields with acceptable or very 

low risk. Normally, the Company protects itself from the currency risk by carrying out the adopted internal 

Policy defining the management of financial risks. 



 Annual management report for the year 2020 
 

 

7 

 

In 2020, HRK 492,549 thousand was invested in new fixed tangible and intangible assets, and HRK 

39,146 thousand was invested in the maintenance of existing assets.  
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III.  Key financial business indicators 

Business result and financial indicators 

in thousands of HRK 2020 2019 Index % 

Total income 790,037 714,325 10.6% 

Operating income  778,647 696,005 11.9% 

Operating expenses 421,304 390,751 7.8% 

Profit from operations 357,343 305,254 17.1% 

Net income 288,106 261,910 10.0% 

Total EBITDA (Earnings before interest, 
taxes and depreciation) 

529,169 467,084 13.3% 

Sales revenue - core activity 757,851 662,980 14.3% 

Total assets 4,798,839 4,624,283 3.8% 

Capital and reserves 4,566,822 4,353,363 4.9% 

Long-term liabilities 83,117 88,203 -5.8% 

Investments in long-term tangible and 
intangible assets 

492,549 408,603 20.5% 

Net income rate 37.63% 39.17% -3.9% 

Return on equity 6.62% 6.27% 5.6% 

Return on assets  6.00% 5.66% 6.0% 

Current ratio   3.66 3.73 -1.9% 

Debt ratio    0.04 0.05 -20.0% 

Remark: Net profit rate was established in relation to sales revenue 
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Sales revenue (core activity) 

 

Figure 1: Revenues from sales by segments 
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1 2 3 4 5 (2/3) 6 (2/4) 

1. Oil transportation 406,389 388,236 405,015 104,7 100.3 

2. Oil storage 235,658 174,117 183,226 135.3 128.6 

3. Storage of refinery 
products 

115,804 100,627 111,863 115.1 103.5 

           

 Total  757,851 662,980 700,104 114.3 108.2 
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Figure 2: Share of income from core activity by segments in 2020:  

 

 

 

Figure 3: Share of income from core activity by customers in 2020:  
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IV.   Significant events after the end of the financial year 

Oil transportation contract was concluded for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 

with the company NIS a.d.  

Oil transportation contract was concluded for the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 at the 

Omišalj Terminal with the company BP Oil International Limited. 

 

 

V.  Research and development activities 

The business activities of the Company have limited opportunities for investment in the research and 

development of new products or technologies, that is why JANAF’s research and development activities 

include mainly: research and analysis of the market of oil and oil derivatives, energy policies and strategies, 

other analyses necessary for making decisions and business and development plans; developing 

methodology and pricing models of oil transport services; feasibility study for projects; research, analysis 

and forecasts of financial and economic business factors; research and analysis of technical-technological 

factors and substrates necessary for efficient building, operational management and maintenance of 

facilities and infrastructure systems and testing and assessment of condition of pipelines and containers 

ect.  

Exploration of possibilities of exploiting different types of renewable energy sources that can be 

activated, primarily, at existing Company’s locations, as well as the exploration of potential diversification 

of business in other compatible, propulsive and high-profitable high-technology industries has began at the 

end of the period and will be increasingly intensified in the following years. 

 
 

VI.   Information on repurchase of own shares 

The company does not hold its own shares.   

 

VII. Financial instruments 

Company's financial instruments management policy is defined by the fundamental principles ensuring 

short-term and long-term liquidity and the safety of investments with the achievement of maximum 

possible yield with minimum risk. 

Financial assets of the Company are founds on accounts and loans and receivables. Of the total financial 

assets, 80.53% refers to founds, ensuring short-term and long-term liquidity. 

Financial liabilities refer to long-term liability that is the subject of succession between the successor 

states of the former Yugoslavia, trade and other liabilities. The Company settles all obligations within 

maturities. Company’s exposure to risks and methods of protection against the underlying risk are 

established by the financial instruments management policy.  
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VIII.  Company’s exposures to risks 

The Company is exposed to credit and currency risk while interest rate risk and price risk are non existent. 

Credit risk  

At the date of financial statements, the structure of financial assets is such that the exposure of the 

Company to credit risk is insignificant. 

Currency risk 

The Company is mainly exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rates of EUR and USD, because a 

significant portion of trade receivables and sales, cash and long-term liabilities are denominated in those 

currencies. Other assets and other liabilities are mainly denominated in HRK. Foreign exchange risk is 

managed by applying the adopted internal Policy for Financial Risk Management.  

Liquidity and cash flow risks 

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserve of financial assets, by 

continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows and by monitoring the maturity of receivables 

and liabilities. Analysis of the liquidity risk and of the cash flow shows that the Company has a several times 

higher amount of financial assets with the same maturity for coverage of liabilities due over a period of 

time.  

 

 
 

IX.   Core objectives and outlined strategy of the Company in the coming periods 
 

On the basis of the existing forces and the possibility of further development, evaluation of market and 

opportunity to increase oil transportation, storage of oil and oil derivatives, thence serious threats and risks 

related to the future of oil demand and the Company's commitment, in accordance with the European 

Green Deal, for the long-term sustainable development of Croatian economy with a significant reduction in 

greenhouse gas emissions, the objectives of strategic development of the Company are as follows:  

 increasing the safety of transportation and storage, and thus the security of oil and oil derivatives 

supply;  

 contribution to better exploitation of the geostrategic, transit and, in particular, maritime position 

of the Republic of Croatia, with the extension of the oil pipeline and storage infrastructure, 

providing safe and secure services;  

 the growth of transportation and storage of oil and oil derivatives, with better valorisation of 

JANAF’s existing capacities and corridors, improvement of energy efficiency and the realization of 

new projects;  
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 increasing market shares of oil transportation for Central European companies;  

 further improvement of environmental protection, protection and safety of people and equipment;  

 preparation and gradual implementation of the long-term low-carbon development strategy of the 

Company which includes a green transition in renewable energy, in accordance with the regulatory 

measures and financial instruments of the national energy and climate plan and the European 

Green Deal, Innovation Fund and EU Recovery Plan, all with the aim of ensuring long-term 

development of the Company;  

 increase of profitability, cost-effectiveness and business profitability with revenue growth, increase 

of Company's value, increase of employee’s satisfaction and standards.  

Based on these strategic objectives, a priority task is to find and implement projects that will enable 

stability and further development of the Company and contribute to transition to low-carbon energy and 

the economy of the Republic of Croatia, with the strengthening of the energy sector and its strategic 

importance. In the forthcoming period, investments are expected in:  

 projects for the security of supply, safety and protection of environment, people and equipment, 

and in particular continuous testing, improvement and rehabilitation of pipelines, upgrading of the 

fire alarm and fireproofing systems, technical and physical protection, etc.;  

 projects for oil and oil derivatives storage, primarily completion of projects under construction (two 

oil tanks with a capacity of 160,000 m3 at Sisak terminal); as well as the construction of new tanks 

envisaged by the programs for upgrading of pipeline and storage infrastructure, all in accordance 

with market demand and project cost-effectiveness;  

 projects for technical and technological modernization, reconstruction and upgrading of the 

systems (overhauls of the tanks, upgrading of SCADA, power system, GIS, KIS, measurement 

stations, etc.).  

Projects for activities non related to oil and for activities of energy efficiency, which would ensure the 

long-term development of the Company, contribute to the reduction of CO2 emissions and increase the 

share of renewable energy sources in total energy consumption, but also achieve new revenues and newly 

added values, are also being considered. The realization of small photovoltaic power plants at the locations 

of the terminals is only the beginning of the green transition which should, once fully implanted, that is in 

one or two medium-term periods, result in the Company’s transformation from oil company for 

transportation and storage of oil into an energy company.  

In its development strategy, the Company implements the principles of sustainable development which 

presupposes a balanced integration of economic, social and environmental factors in business operations, 

whereby business results, social well-being, employee satisfaction and environmental protection have the 

same importance and impact, all with consistent adherence to the principles of corporate social 

responsibility. 
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In order to reduce energy costs and to protect the environment, the permanent optimization of the 

energy management system is one of the key factors of the success of JANAF's successful business, in 

accordance with ISO 50001:2011 which supports companies and other organizations in the development 

of systems and processes aiming to increase energy efficiency.  

Business development objectives will be achieved with the application of an integrated management 

system and according to the requirements of adopted and applied international standards. In the 

forthcoming period, the emphasis will be put on: certification of the ISO 27001 standard (information 

security management system) and ISO 45001 standard (safety management system), recertification of 

theISO 50001 standard (energy management system), etc.; improvement of  internal organization and 

optimization of business processes through implementation of projects Digitization of key business 

processes, Document Management System et al.  

Policies and human resource management programs support the strategic objectives of the Company's 

business operations. Human resource management strategy in the forthcoming period will focus on: 

preservation and development of intellectual capital of the Company by implementing specific strategies; 

creation of a more flexible organization capable to react faster and adapt to changes; development of 

innovative human resources practices and of positive work environment through management of critical 

factors in the workplace. 

 

X. Reports on individual activities  

X.1 Capital investments 

During 2020, the value of invoiced capital investments 

amounted to HRK 492,549 thousand. The value of contracted and 

unfinished proceedings transferred to the next period amounts to 

HRK 135,010 thousand. Completed investments and ready for use 

funds have been activated or placed in use during the current 

business year. The value of investments placed in use in 2020 

amounted to HRK 411,521 thousand.  

At the report date, the value of unfinished investments, that is investments in progress, amounted to 

HRK 768.864 thousand.   

Investments in storage space 

Investments in the reconstruction and upgrading of the storage space in the amount of HRK 198,962 

thousand (40.4% of total investments in 2020) referred mostly to continuation of the construction of the 

storage space for crude oil at the Sisak Terminal, construction of a tank for derivatives at the Žitnjak 

Terminal and overhaul of existing tanks at Company's terminals. Investments in two crude oil tanks (volume 

of 80,000 m3 each) with the relevant equipment and infrastructure, in 2020, amounted to HRK 149,709 
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thousand, investments in one oil derivatives tank of volume of 20.000 m3 with the relevant equipment and 

infrastructure amounted to HRK 29,454 thousand, while investments in overhauls of existing tanks at 

Omišalj, Sisak and Žitnjak Terminals amounted to HRK 19,799 thousand. 

Investments in facilities and other infrastructure  

Reported investments in facilities and other infrastructure of HRK 100,157 thousand (20.3% of total 

investments in 2020) refer mostly to investments in the modernization of Žitnjak Terminal. Modernization 

of Žitnjak Terminal encompasses the execution of extension of manipulative storage capacities, equipping 

and supplementing of islands 2, 3 and 4, as well as connecting the tanks and upgrading the addition system 

for biofuels and additives as part of the 4th phase, and the value of the investments in the current year 

amounted to HRK 41,804 thousand. Investments in facilities and buildings at the terminals and routes of 

JANAF in 2020 amounted to HRK 53,722 thousand, most of which is related to investments in the 

modernization of the investment warehouse and the automation of part of the armature at the Omišalj 

Terminal, the renovation of the warehouse business building and the construction of a solar power plant, 

as well as the work on the reconstruction of infrastructure subsystems on industrial track and other objects 

at the Žitnjak Terminal in the amount of HRK 38,816 thousand. 

Investments in pipelines  

Investments in the amount of HRK 83,840 thousand (17.0% of total investments in 2020) referred 

mostly, in the amount of HRK 64,969 thousand, to investments in the long-distance pipelines on stretches 

Omišalj - Sisak and Sisak - Slavonski Brod. The purpose of investments in the pipelines is to increase the 

security of oil transportation and consumer supply, as well as to extend the lifespan. The remaining part of 

the investments, in the amount of HRK 18,871 thousand, refers to the testing of the long-distance pipelines 

and the reconstruction and modernization of manipulative pipelines at Omišalj and Sisak Terminals. 

Safety and environmental protection facilities 

Investments in the amount of HRK 65,995 thousand (13.4% of total investments in 2020) were made in 

various facilities in order to achieve greater security of oil supply and protection of environment, people 

and equipment, and they included mainly investments in the modernization of fire detection and fire 

protection systems and the modernization of technical protection system. The modernization of fire 

detection and fire protection systems refers mainly to the investment in the modernization of extinguishing 

and cooling systems of tanks at the Omišalj Terminal, delivery and installation of a stable automatic fire 

extinguishing system at the Virje Terminal and at the OS Dobra, as well as equipping the fire brigades at 

the Žitnjak Terminal and the Sisak Terminal. Investments in the modernization of fire detection and fire 

protection system in 2020 amounted to HRK 31,486 thousand. Modernization of the technical protection 

system refers mainly to investments in the perimeter protection at JANAF’s locations. In 2020, investments 

concerned amounted to HRK 26,537 thousand. 
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Investments in business informatics and software 

Investments made relate mainly to the modernization and upgrading of the monitoring and 

management system and other software and IT equipment, and in the current year they amounted to HRK 

23,202 thousand (4.7% of total investments in 2020). 

Investments in electric power system 

Investments in electric power system relate mainly to the replacement of medium voltage cables for the 

power supply of the transformer stations and the replacement of signal, control and power cables at the 

Omišalj Terminal in the amount of HRK 7,607 thousand. In the current year, total investment in electric 

power system amounted to HRK 14,545 thousand (3.0% of total investments in 2020). 

Other investments 

Investments in other investment materials and capital goods amounted to HRK 5,848 thousand (1.2 % 

of total investments in 2020).  

 
 

Overview of the values of the most important capital investments in 2020 

 

in thousands of HRK Realised 

(invoiced) 

until 

31/12/2020 

Investment title 

INVESTMENTS IN STORAGE SPACE 198,962 

INVESTMENTS IN FACILITIES AND OTHER INFRASTRUCTURE 100,157 

INVESTMENTS IN PIPELINES 83,840 

INVESTMENT IN SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION SYSTEM 65,995 

INVESTMENT IN BUSINESS INFORMATICS AND SOFTWARE  23,202 

INVESTMENT IN ELECTRIC POWER SYSTEM 14,545 

OTHER INVESTMENTS  5,848 

  

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 492,549 

 

Remark: Reported investments do not include advance and accrued payments for long-term material assets. 
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X.2 Environmental protection 

Oil transportation, as well as oil and oil derivatives storage are enabled 

by secure, continuously monitored and maintained system. Environmental 

protection is part of all JANAF activities. Compliance with the law 

regulations of the Republic of Croatia, regular maintenance of the system, 

implementation of the best available safety management techniques 

contributes to the safety of the system, to the continuity of quality and 

continuous work, to better control and supervision and to early recognition 

of possible non-conformities and negative effects on the environment in 

regular operations and in case of unexpected events.  

Company’s activities do not burden the environment with the unauthorized quantities of emissions of 

harmful substances, which is confirmed by regular and extraordinary measurements carried out by 

authorized companies. Data on quantities and types of waste, waste water, emissions to and air 

conditioning as potential pollutants are regularly delivered to the Pollutant Emission Register. 

Waste management is carried out in a way that the waste is classified and collected separately in 

appropriate containers and disposed by authorized companies/concessionaires at all JANAF’s sites. Records 

about the quantities and types of waste are kept and submitted to the competent state administration 

authorities in accordance with legal obligations. During 2020, 15 types of waste were generated at JANAF’s 

sites. In accordance with the inventory commission list, assets were disposed and expendited at all sites.   

During 2020, due to epidemiological measures arising from the COVID-19 pandemic, only one joint 

safety drill was carried out (environmental protection, fire drill and evacuation and rescue drill). Workers’ 

preparedness for emergency procedures was tested by the drill.  

In accordance with the annual plan on terminals and block stations along the route, with the aim of 

workers’ health protection and system protection (protection of installations against rodents), deratization 

and disinsectisation were carried out. The disinsectisation of facilities was also carried out due to indication 

of presence of persons infected by COVID-19. 

Sampling and analysis of potable water for sanitary correctness and waste water before discharge in 

the recipient in accordance with water legislation were carried out by the authorised company. In 

accordance with the requirements of the Impact study, the monitoring of the sea in the area of the 

underwater pipelines continues. Underground monitoring activities are conducted at the Žitnjak Terminal 

and Omišalj Terminal.  

A water permit for the well of water used for fire fighting was obtained at the Virje Terminal. 

Measurement of emissions with the device for the recovery of easily volatile hydrocarbons was carried 

out at the Žitnjak Terminal and measurement with the device for the reception and incineration of easily 
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volatile hydrocarbons was carried out at the Omišalj Terminal. Reports have shown that emissions are 

within the legal limits.  

Manual ECO sets, degreasers and oil collectors placed across the sites are regularly supplemented. 

During 2020, coordinated inspections were carried out at Sisak Terminal and Omišalj Terminal and were 

completed without significant remarks. Due to significant extensions at Žitnjak Terminal and Sisak 

Terminal, drafting of Safety report and Internal plans was launched for those sites. 

From the aspect of environmental protection, during 2020 there were no emergency events that would 

result in negative effects on the environment.  
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X.3 Quality management 

Joint stock company Jadranski naftovod is certified by the 

international certification company Bureau Veritas Certificates 

since December 2005. In October 2020, Janaf d.d. was successfully 

recertified for the fifth time and, on this occasion, has completed 

the transition to a new standard ISO 45001: 2018. Thus, for another 

three years, certificates are confirmed for the following standards:  

 ISO 9001:2015, Quality management system; 

 ISO 14001:2015, Environmental management system; 

 ISO 45001:2018, Health and safety management system. 

Following the certification audit in November 2016, the Company successfully passed the supervisory 

audit according to the requirements of ISO 50001: 2018, Energy management systems. 

Following lengthy experience and work in accordance to the ISO 9001 standard, the Company fulfilled 

all requirements and was recertified according to ISO 29001 standard - Quality management systems with 

requirements for the oil, gas and petrochemicals industries. 

Furthermore, in 2020, JANAF has once more obtained a certificate for compliance of its business 

operations with ISO 26000 - Corporate social responsibility guidelines. 

Business operations in accordance with the requirements and guidelines of the above-mentioned 

standards are proof of JANAF’s pursuit of permanent improvement of business quality, energy efficiency, 

care for employees and service users, as well as of environmental protection, health and safety. By 

maintaining compliance with the requirements of ISO Standards, JANAF does not only accept the statutory 

standards, but determines higher criteria and systematically supervises the state of business activities. 

In May 2020 at the Zagreb site and in October 2020 at all other sites, supervisory and recertification 

audits of the integrated management system were carried out by the Bureau Veritas certification company. 

Based on the carried out audits, Bureau Veritas has established that the integrated management system is 

in accordance with the requirements of all the above-mentioned standards.  

Throughout the year, continuous work on improving the system was carried out. Internal audits were 

carried out at all JANAF sites according to the established annual plan, and recorded non-compliances were 

removed in defined deadlines. The Company recognizes the risks and opportunities and is defining measures 

to remove or reduce the risk and to seize the opportunities, which further ensures a permanent 

improvement of the system. 
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X.4 Social responsibility 

Multiannual achievement of exceptional business 

results enables JANAF d.d. to voluntary implement 

guidelines for corporate social responsibility that 

contribute to the development of society and 

environmental protection. In today's business world, 

among successful companies, being socially 

responsible means not only meeting legal obligations 

but working on raising standards and ethics,  

building corporate culture and positively affecting the social community, as well as investing in human 

capital, protection and preservation of the environment. 

Granted certificate of compliance for corporate social responsibility confirms JANAF’s orientation 

towards corporate social responsibility and its application in accordance with the principles and guidelines 

established in the ISO 26000 standard - Corporate social responsibility.   

In its business operations, the Company emphasizes the importance of social responsibility by investing 

in human capital, health and safety of workers, and constant introduction of cutting edge technologies and 

processes demonstrates its responsible behaviour towards the environment. Furthermore, financial support 

of the social community in form of sponsorships and donations is an integral part of the implementation of 

corporate social responsibility at JANAF because it is a way of recognizing the needs of the community in 

which one acts and contributing to the development of society as a whole. 

During 2020, the Company continued to allocate financial resources to various projects and programs 

of associations, organizations, institutions, alliances and etc. operating in the Republic of Croatia, and 

especially in the area of local community through which the oil pipeline passes. This strengthens 

cooperation with the local community that is an essential part of the business strategy and to whom JANAF 

d.d. wants to be a "good neighbour" in all areas along the pipeline route. Outstanding business results 

enable the Company’s corporate social responsibility through which the Company reinvests a part of its 

revenue in the community in which the revenue was created and on this bases the local community 

recognizes JANAF d.d. as an important economic entity and partner.  

Since 2020 was marked by the pandemic of COVID-19 and earthquakes, the Company has actively 

contributed to the fight against coronavirus disease and provided assistance to the areas affected by 

earthquake. JANAF donated funds to the benefit of actions "Together for Zagreb", "Croatia against 

coronavirus" and "Help for earthquake reconstruction" and provided financial assistance to employees, 

associations and institutions for the repair of objects damaged in the earthquake. Moreover, the funds were 

donated to hospitals for procurement of respirators, protective medical equipment and devices for 

disinfection of premises. In addition to material resources, the Company made available human resources 



 Annual management report for the year 2020 
 

 

21 

 

and the equipment that helped clearance and rehabilitation after the earthquake in the Sisak-Moslavina 

County.  

Transparency in business operations as an important part of social responsibility to the community is 

also manifested through timely publication of all important information and facts about the Company's 

business operations. In accordance with the provisions of the Capital Market Act and the capital market 

regulators, all regulated information is submitted to the Zagreb Stock Exchange and HANFA, while all 

relevant documents and information on the Company are published on the Company's website. 

Furthermore, in the area of internal communication, communication channels such as Intranet and mail 

are used to deliver all notifications relevant to employees and planning of the opening of new 

communication channels to improve internal communication within the Company has begun.  

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic,JANAF's traditional international conference was not held in 2020. For 

the same reason, there was no cooperation with educational institutions and the academic community, as 

well as with professional public in the form of visits to the Company's sites and the participation of JANAF 

representatives in educational institutions, vocational and professional associations or gatherings was 

realized through on-line platforms. JANAF d.d. also demonstrates its business success through active 

participation in domestic and international vocational and professional associations.  

In October 2020, JANAF d.d. became a full member of the International Association of Oil Transporters 

(IAOT), founded in 2013 with the aim of supporting the members of the association in cooperation and 

development of transport and storage of oil and oil derivatives at international, regional and national level, 

and this membership confirms the importance of the Company in the energy-oil infrastructure of Eurasia. 

X.5 Human resources management 

JANAF’s human resources management function proved to be an effective support to workers and 

business operations in the challenging 2020. Ongoing crisis caused by the pandemic of the coronavirus, 

further aggravated by the earthquake, caused significant changes and adjustments, both in business 

operations general, as well as in human resource management which aimed to support and facilitate 

everyday life of workers. By redefining business processes and adapting to new human resource 

management operational models in 2020, emphasis is placed on the use of new technologies, digitization, 

agility, two-way communication and care for workers' health, taking a strategic role in the implementation 

of these changes.  

Total number of employees of the Company as of 31 December 2020 was 382. Turnover rate was 2.85% 

in 2020. In accordance with the annual employment plan, 9 workers have been employed, of which 55% in 

the core activities of society, transport and storage of oil and in the functional area of pipelines 

maintenance. Pandemic caused by coronavirus has left great consequences on the labour market, thus the 

recruitment and selection activities have seen a trend of a growing number of candidates in general, but 

also in certain technical professions that have been deficient. 
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Intensive transformation of the working environment has proved to be a challenge, but also an 

opportunity for growth and development. Human resources department started a number of new projects 

during 2020, including the implementation of the new Human Resource Information System (HRIS) software 

that increases the effectiveness of the functional area of human resources management.  

Given the constantly occurring changes in the business environment and the need to strengthen 

organizational and individual competencies, a modern digital platform for dissemination of knowledge has 

been implemented, enabling a more efficient and simpler participation in educational trainings to all 

workers.  

Within the framework of the project JANAF Knowledge Center, a mentor system has been implemented 

as one of the components of the umbrella system of knowledge management in the Company. The 

objectives and benefits of introduction of a formalized mentoring system are numerous and have an impact 

on multiple levels of business management processes and business results. 

In areas related to the increase in productivity and efficiency of workers, a five-year cycle of work 

performance assessment that enabled rewards and advancements to workers who contribute the most to 

the excellent results of the Company has ended in November 2020. Activities of work performance 

assessment, as well as of reward and advancement systems, focused on improving internal communication 

among workers and building of a partner relationship between the direction, the management and the 

workers through structured feedback on work performance, career development possibilities, education, 

job rotations, inter-organisational cooperation through projects and other organisational initiatives that 

have contributed to the better use of the potential of each individual in the team. 

Systematic care for workers positioned JANAF as one of the leading companies in the implementation 

of family and socially responsible policies. In order to provide all employees with support in the 

establishment of a work-life balance, the Company joined the Mamforce initiative in 2016 and acquired the 

basic certificate of the Mamforce Company Standard. During 2018, an estimation of existing human 

resource management and work practices was conducted and the Company acquired full status of the 

Mamforce Company Standard in the category of Change (dedication of changes). Implementation of a 

series of responsible policies and benefits facilitates the process of finding a work-life balance to employed 

parents with the aim of creating family and gender aware culture of mutual support and supportive working 

environment as the foundation for undisturbed career development regardless of parentage and gender. 

The following period anticipates the development of a new action plan to improve policies and working 

conditions and concrete measures to improve the quality of life of workers. 

The pandemic of the coronavirus has placed unprecedented challenges regarding the rights to privacy 

and data protection before the Company. Human resources department, as a functional area in which the 

widest spectrum of personal data is processed, continues to implement activities in order to maintain 

reliability with regard to the implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 

Digitized working environment, new work concept, transparent communication, faster decision-making 

and flexibility are trends that have been functioning for many years around the world. Circumstances that 
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could not been foreseen in 2020 have permanently changed practices in human resources management at 

JANAF, but have also transformed the traditional operational role of human resources management into a 

strategical and partner one, which further commits us to carrying out further changes that will contribute 

to the development of the Company, as well as to the professional and personal development of each 

worker.  

 

XI.   Statement on the application of the Corporate Governance Code  

Statement on the application of the Corporate Governance Code is compiled under the provisions of 

Article 272.p of the Companies Act. 

As a joint stock company whose shares are listed on the regular market of the Zagreb Stock Exchange 

d.d., from 2007 to 2020 the Company has been voluntarily applying the recommendations of the Corporate 

Governance Code, developed by the Croatian Financial Services Supervisory Agency (HANFA) and the 

Zagreb Stock Exchange d.d., with a deviation from some recommendations and guidelines of the Code. The 

Code was published on Zagreb Stock Exchange d.d. website. 

In addition to the aforementioned Code, as a company majority-owned by the Republic of Croatia, 

JANAF is subject to the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code for companies in which the Republic 

of Croatia has shares or stakes, adopted by the Government of the Republic of Croatia and published in the 

Official Gazette no. 132 of 29 December 2017. The majority of the requirements from both Codes is 

harmonised, which means that the below stated deviations relate to both documents.  

JANAF’s Supervisory Board has not established the Commission for Appointments and the Commission 

for Remuneration because the members are appointed on the basis of the results of a conducted public 

tender, and salaries and remunerations are also subject to the acts of the Government of the Republic of 

Croatia. In May 2020, the Supervisory Board issued the Policy of appointment of members of Management 

and Supervisory Boards of the joint company Jadranski naftovod for the period 2020-2023 which was 

approved t the general meeting of the Company held on 2 July 2020. The Supervisory Board has formed the 

Audit Board. Detailed explanations related to non-use of or deviation from certain Code recommendations 

in 2020 are carried out by the Company in an annual questionnaire which is an integral part of the Code 

and which is submitted to the Zagreb Stock Exchange d.d. together with the Annual financial statements 

for public announcement. In addition to the recommendations of the Code, the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board of the Company are strengthening their efforts to establish adequate corporate 

governance and transparent information, taking into account structure and organization of the Company, 

strategy and business objectives, distribution of powers and responsibilities with a special emphasis on the 

effective procedures for determining, measuring, monitoring and reporting on business risks, as well as to 

establish appropriate internal control mechanisms. 

The Company has compiled the consolidated financial statements for the Janaf Group, composed of 

JANAF and subsidiaries JANAF - upravljanje projektima d.o.o., Zagreb and JANAF-TERMINAL BROD d.o.o. 

Brod, Bosnia and Herzegovina, in which JANAF d.d. Is the sole shareholder. Subsidiaries generate revenues 
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exclusively from the relationship with the parent undertaking, and there is a complete supervision of the 

process of compiling consolidated financial statements.  

Annual financial statements for JANAF Group and JANAF d.d. and the Annual management report 

(Annual report on the state of the company) make a unique Annual report.   



 Annual management report for the year 2020 
 

 

25 

 

 

 XI.1 Significant shareholders and limitations to the rights attaching to the shares 

In the structure of the shareholders of the Company, the Republic of Croatia (Ministry of Physical 

Planning, Construction and State Assets) is the majority indirect shareholder, through extra-budgetary 

funds (Croatian Pension Insurance Institute), joint company (HEP – Croatian Electricity Company) and, from 

28 January 2014, Centre for Restructuring and Sales (CERP). The Republic of Croatia is an indirect 

shareholder of over 83.9% of the share capital and voting rights at the General Assembly on the basis of 

which it has full control of the Company.   

All shares are fully paid and there are no limitations on the rights related to shares.  

 

XI.2 Rules governing the appointment and replacement of members of the Management Board, 

amendment of the articles of association and special powers of the Management 

Board 

In accordance with the JANAF’s statute, the Management consists of one to three members, and the 

decision on the number of members is made by the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board appoints the 

Management Board for a period of four years following the selection procedure of candidates for members 

of the Management Board through a public tender conducted by the competent ministry, and on the basis 

of the act of the Government of the Republic of Croatia which concludes the selection procedure of 

candidates. After the end of the term of office, the president/member of the Management Board may be 

reappointed president/ member of the Management Board. The Supervisory Board may revoke the 

president and members of the Management Board before the expiry of the deadline for which they were 

appointed in the cases laid down by law.  

Powers, duties, responsibilities and limitations of the Management Board in business conduct and the 

representation of the Company are determined by the Statute.  

The Statute can only be amended by the decision of the General Assembly under the procedure 

prescribed by the Companies Act.   

XI.3 Composition and functioning of the Supervisory Board 

In accordance with the Companies Act and the Statute of the Company, the main duty of the Supervisory 

Board is supervision of the Company’s business conduct and appointment of the president and members of 

the Management Board.  

From 18 December 2020, the members of the Supervisory Board are as follows: 

Biljana Bukić, President, 

Žarko Stilin, Vice president,  
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Nina Ban Glasnović, Member. 

Nikolina Balen, Member. 

• Term of office of Igor Blažinović, member of the Supervisory Board who was appointed workers’ 

representative by the Works Council on 9 November 2018 and who entered the term of office of his 

predecessor, expired on 8 November 2020. 

• On 18 December 2020, the Works Council appointed Nikolina Balen workers’ representative in the 

Supervisory Board. 

XI.4 Composition and functioning of the Management Board 

The Management Board consists of the president and members of the Management Board. President 

of the Management Board represents the Company independently and individually, and a member of the 

Management Board represents the Company along with the President of the Management Board. In 

accordance with the Companies Act and the Statute of the Company, the primary power of the 

Management Board is business conduct of the Company and representation of the Company to third 

parties.  

The Management Board is obliged and authorized to take all actions and make decisions that it deems 

necessary for successful business conduct of the Company, which essentially implies making decisions in 

order to achieve business strategy, plans and work programs of the Company with certain restrictions 

prescribed by the Statute. The Management Board of the Company, only with prior consent of the 

Supervisory Board, can decide on the establishment of a commercial company, sale and purchase of shares, 

disposition of real estate whose value exceeds HRK 4,0 million, taking warranty and issuing securities 

exceeding  the amount of HRK 8,0 million, adopting annuals and multi-annual business plans and 

investment plans of the Company, termination or cancellation of contracts related to the storage of 

compulsory oil and oil derivatives reserves, concluding transactions with related parties when prescribed 

by law etc. 

  From 10 February 2012 until 11 February 2020  the Management Board of JANAF d.d. was composed 

of: 

President of the Management Board: Ph.D. Dragan Kovačević 

Members of the Management Board:  Jakša Marasović 

Bruno Šarić 

From 12 February 2020 until 25 September 2020  the Management Board of JANAF d.d. was composed 

of: 

President of the Management Board: Ph.D. Dragan Kovačević 

Members of the Management Board: MSc.    Stjepan Adanić 
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          Vladislav Veselica 

As of 25 September 2020 the members of the Management Board of JANAF d.d. are as follows: 

President of the Management Board: MSc.     Stjepan Adanić 

Member of the Management Board:  Vladislav Veselica 

 

 

XI.5 Description of modalities for the operation of the General Assembly 

General Assembly of the Company consists of shareholders. One share confers the right to one vote at 

the General Assembly. Shareholders participate at the General Assembly in person or through a 

representative or a proxy. The General Assembly of the Company shall be convened in the cases established 

by the law and the Statute of the Company and where appropriate, when required by the interests of the 

Company. The General Assembly of the Company is usually convened by the Management Board of the 

Company. Meeting notice and agenda for the Assembly are published on the Company's website, on the 

website containing Court registrar and on the Zagreb Stock Exchange website, no later than 30 days before 

the meeting takes place. Shareholders apply for the participation at the General Assembly of the Company 

no later than 6 days before the meeting takes place.  

The General Assembly of the Company can act properly and make decisions if the meeting is attended 

by shareholders who together control 50% + 1 vote of the total number of votes at the General Assembly . 

The General Assembly is conducted by the President of the General Assembly, and in his absence, the 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board. The President of the General Assembly is elected for a 4 year term. The 

President of the General Assembly opens the meeting, manages the actions of the Assembly, opens and 

closes discussions, puts proposals for a decision to the vote and concludes the meeting. Voting is public and 

the decision is considered adopted if it gained majority of the votes of the present shareholders, unless 

other majority is determined by the law or statute of the Company for certain issues.  
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JADRANSKI NAFTOVOD, dioničko društvo 

Zagreb, Miramarska cesta 24 

 

 

Pursuant to the provisions of Article 462, paragraph 2, item 3 of the Capital Market Act, and in 

accordance with the provisions of article 19, paragraphs 11 and 12 of the Accounting Act, the 

Management of Jadranski naftovod d.d. provides  

 

Statement of persons responsible for compiling the annual report 

 

 

I. According to our best knowledge, the annual financial statements for the period from 1 January to 

31 December 2020, for JANAF d.d. and  JANAF GROUP, compiled using appropriate financial 

disclosure standards, provide a complete and fair view of the assets and liabilities, financial 

position, profit or loss and operations of the Company. 

 

II. Annual  Management Report (Annual report on the state of the Company) for the period from 1 

January to 31 December 2020 contains a fair representation of the Company's development, 

business results and business position, with a description of the most significant risks and 

uncertainties to which the Company is exposed.  

 

Management Board of the Company is constituted of: 

 

Zagreb, 10 March 2021 
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Responsibility for consolidated and separate financial statements 

Jadranski naftovod d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb 1 
 

Pursuant to the Accounting Act of the Republic of Croatia, the Management Board is responsible for ensuring 

that consolidated and separate financial statements for each financial year are prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union, which give a true and fair 

view of the financial position and results of operations of Jadranski naftovod d.d.(hereafter JANAF D.D. or „the 

Company“) and the JANAF GROUP, comprising JANAF D.D. and its subsidiaries (hereafter jointly referred to as 

„the Group“) for that period. 

 

Folloving the surveys, the Management Board has a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group 

have adequate resources to continue their business operations in the foreseeable future. For this reason, the 

Management Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparation of consolidated and separate 

financial statements.  

When preparing consolidated and separate financial statements, the Management Board is responsible for 

ensuring that: 

 

 suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; 

 judgements and estimates are reasonable and prudent; 

 applicable accounting standards are applied, and all material deviation is denounced and explained in the 

consolidated and separate financial statements; and 

 consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis, unless it is 

inappropriate to presume that the Company and the Group will continue their business activities. 

 

The Management Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, with reasonable 

accuracy at any time, the financial position and financial performance of the Company and the Group, as well as 

their compliance with the Croatian Accounting Act. The Management Board is also responsible for safeguarding 

the assets of the Company and the Group, and hence for taking reasonable measures to prevent and detect a 

fraud and other irregularities. 

 

 

Miramarska cesta 24 

10000 Zagreb 

Republic of Croatia 

 

10 March 2021  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF JADRANSKI NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Report on the Audit of Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Jadranski naftovod d.d. (the 

Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise consolidated and separate statements of 

financial position as at 31 December 2020, consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive 

income, consolidated and separate statements of cash flows, consolidated and separate statements of 

changes in equity for the year then ended, as well as notes to the consolidated and separate financial 

statements, including the summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the enclosed consolidated and separate annual financial statements represent true and 

fair view of the consolidated and separate financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31 

December 2020, of their consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Accounting Act and the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Commission and published in the Official Journal of 

the European Union. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Accounting Act, Audit Act and International Standards on 

Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements section of our 

Independent auditor's report.  We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of the current period and include the 

recognized most important risks of significant misrepresentation due to an error or fraud with the biggest 

effect on our auditing strategy, the usage of our available resources and the time invested in auditing by 

our team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matter Our procedures during the audit 

Measurement and valuation of operational crude oil 

In the consolidated and separate statement of 
the financial position the aggregate value of the 
operational crude oil on 31 December 2020 
amounts to HRK 259,542 thousand (see notes 2 
and 13). Operational crude oil is essential for the 
normal functioning of the oil transportation 
system. 
At the year-end, an independent third party 
control company performs measurement of the 
amount of operational crude oil. The change of 
quantity during each year is registered in assets 
and in profit and loss statement. For its 
evaluation, the Company uses its historic price at 
the moment of purchasing.  
We paid special attention to measuring and 
evaluating the operational crude oil due to the 
assessments involved in its measuring.    

We assessed the methodology, the objectivity 
and the expertise of the control company 
engaged for the measurement of the amount of 
the crude oil. 
We reviewed the input data used by the control 
company for the calculation.  
We reviewed the input data and the 
methodology used for evaluation of crude oil by 
the Management and we assessed the 
reasonableness of the Management's 
assumptions. 

Capitalisation of property, plant and equipment 

The capitalised costs of property, plant and 
equipment in 2020 amounted to HRK 358,337 
thousand (see notes 2 and 13).  
We were focused on this item because of its 
significance for the financial statements and 
because the Company is in the intensive 
investment cycle. 

We assessed the reasonableness of the 
assumptions on recognition of the costs as assets 
and we tested a sample of invoices for newly 
acquired assets. 
We verified that the capitalisation of costs 
ceased at the moment when the assets were 
ready to be activated.  
We evaluated the reasonableness of the 
Company's and the Group's assessments of the 
useful lifetime of assets. 
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Other Information in the Annual Statement of the Company and the Group for 2020 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual Report but does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements 

and our auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on consolidated and separate annual financial statements does not cover other information, 

except in the proportion in which it is explicitly stated in the part of our independent auditor's report 

under the heading Report on other legal requirements, and we do not convey any form of conclusion 

expressing beliefs about them. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

significantly inconsistent with the consolidated and separate annual financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be significantly misrepresented. If, based on the 

auditing performed, we come to the conclusion that there is significant misrepresentation we are required 

to report that fact. In this respect we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated and 

Separate Annual Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and separate annual financial 

statements that give a true and fair presentation in accordance with IFRSs adopted by the European 

Commission and published in the Official Journal of the European Union, and for such nternal controls as 

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate annual 

financial statements that are without significant misrepresentation due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate 

the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those in charge of management are responsible for supervising the Group’s and the Company’s financial 

reporting process. 

  



 

Commercial Court in Zagreb, MBS 080006795, OIB 71799539000 

Management Board; mr.sc. Dragan Rudan; Share capital 1.000.000,00 HRK Paid in full;  

Transaction account: Istarska kreditna banka Umag d.d., IBAN: HR80 2380 0061 1800 0023 2; BIC: ISKBHR2X  

 

Member of Urbach Hacker Young International Limited, international association of independent accounting and consulting firms. 
  
 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Annual Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an independent 

auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered significant if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these annual financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of significant misstatement of the annual financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide the basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a significant misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate for the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by Management. 

 Conclude  on  the  appropriateness  of  Management’s  use  of  the  going  concern  basis  of  

accounting  and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or  conditions  that  may  cast  significant  doubt  on  the  Company’s  ability  to  

continue  as  a  going  concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our independent auditor’s  report  to  the  related  disclosures in  the  annual 

financial  statements  or,  if  such  disclosures  are  inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our independent auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 

going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate annual 

financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with those in charge of governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those in charge of governance with a statement that we have complied in accordance 

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and that we will communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 

applicable, related safeguards. 

From  the  matters  communicated  with  those  in charge  of  governance, we  determine  those  matters  

that  were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements 

of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 

independent auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 

report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 

public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Report based on the provisions of the Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 

1. We were appointed as the statutory auditor of the Group and the Company by the shareholders on 

General Shareholders’ Meeting held on 02 July 2020 to perform audit of consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements for the year 2020. On the day of this reporting our total uninterrupted 

engagement in performing the Company's and the Group's obligatory audits of consolidated and 

separate annual financial statements has lasted three years in total, starting from the year 2018. 

2. Other than the issues identified in our independent auditor's report as key audit questions in the 

section Report on the audit of consolidated and separate annual financial statements, we have 

nothing to report in relation to point (c) of article 10 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 

3. Our statutory audit of the Company's and the Group's consolidated and separate annual financial 

statements for 2020 enables us to detect irregularities, including fraud in accordance with section 225 

Responding to the failure to comply with law and regulation of the IESBA Code which requires us to 

see whether the Company and the Group respected the laws and regulations that are generally 

recognised as having a direct effect on the determination of significant amounts and disclosures in 

their consolidated and separate annual financial statements, as well as other laws and regulations 

that do not have a direct effect on determining significant amounts and disclosures in their 

consolidated and separate annual financial statements, but respecting which may be essential for the 

Company's and Group's operational aspects, their ability to continue as a going concern or to avoid 

significant penalties.  
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Except where we encounter, or learn about, the failure to comply with any of the above laws or 

regulations which is manifestly insignificant, according to our judgement of its content and influence, 

financial or otherwise, for the Company and the Group, their shareholders and general public, we are 

obliged to inform the Company and the Group of this and ask them to investigate the case and take 

appropriate measures to address irregularities and to prevent those irregularities from appearing 

again in the future. If the Company and the Group on the revised balance date have not corrected the 

irregularities which resulted in incorrect representations in the revised consolidated and separate 

annual financial statements that are cumulatively equal or greater than the amount of significance 

for the financial statements as a whole, we are required to modify our opinion in the independent 

auditor's report.  

In the audit of the Company's and the Group's consolidated and separate annual financial statements 

for 2020 we determined the significance for the financial statements as a whole in the amount of HRK 

28,811 thousand representing approximately 10% of income after tax due to the shareholders' focus 

on this indicator. 

4. Our audit opinion is consistent with the Supplementary Report to the Company's Audit Committee 

drawn up in accordance with the provisions of article 11 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014. 

5. During the period between the starting date of the audit of the Company's and the Group's 

consolidated and separate annual financial statements for 2020 we did not provide prohibited non-

auditing services to the Company or the companies under its control. Also, during the fiscal year 

before the period mentioned above, we did not provide services for designing and implementing 

procedures for internal control or for management of risks related to the preparation and/or control 

of financial information or for designing and implementation of technological systems for financial 

information, and in conducting the audit, we have preserved independence in relation to the 

Company and the Group. 
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Report based on the provisions of the Accounting Act 

1. In our opinion, based on work performed during our audit, the information in the accompanied 

management report of the Company  and the Group for the year 2020 is in accordance with the 

accompanied consolidated and separate annual financial statements of the Company and the 

Groupfor the year 2020. 

2. In our opinion, based on work performed during our audit, the accompanied management report of 

the Company and the Group for the year 2020 is prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act. 

3. Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Company's and the Group's business and their 

environment acquired in the audit, we have not established any significant misrepresentations in the 

enclosed Company's and the Group's Management Report. 

4. In our opinion, based on work performed during our audit, the Statement of Application of the 

Corporate Governance Code, included in the Company's Annual Report for the year 2020, is in 

accordance with requirements specified in article 22, para. 3 and 4 of the Accounting Act. 

5. The Statement of Application of the Corporate Governance Code, included in the Company's Annual 

Report for the year 2020, includes information specified in article 22, para. 1, 2, 5 and 7 of the 

Accounting Act. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Dragan Rudan. 

 

Zagreb, 10 March 2021 

 

UHY RUDAN d.o.o. za porezno savjetovanje i reviziju 

Ilica 213 

10 000 Zagreb 

Republic of Croatia 

 

 



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income of the JANAF GROUP 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 
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  Note 2020.  2019 

OPERATING INCOME  778,608   695,953 

Sales 3 765,626   668,677 

Other operating income  4 12,982  27,276 

OPERATING EXPENSES  (421,257)   (390,618) 

Material costs 5 (122,357)   (121,278) 

Staff Costs 6 (83,527)   (82,168) 

Depreciation 7 (177,606)   (147,252) 

Other expenses 8 (26,474)   (27,352) 

Value adjustment of fixed and current assets  (1,601)  (776) 

Provisions 8 (3,859)   (1,214) 

Other operating expenses 8 (5,833)   (10,578) 

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS  357,351   305,335 

FINANCIAL INCOME 9 11,390   18,320 

FINANCIAL EXPENSES 9 (17,182)   (3,755) 

PROFIT FROM FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 9 (5,792)   14,565 

TOTAL INCOME   789,998   714,273 

TOTAL EXPENSES   (438,439)   (394,373) 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD   351,559   319,900 

INCOME TAX 10 63,456   57,935 

PROFIT AFTER TAX    288,103   261,965 

Other comprehensive income  -   - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   288,103   261,965 

Earnings per share (HRK) 21 285.91   259.97 

 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Note 2020  2019 

OPERATING INCOME  778,647   696,005 

Sales 3 765,612   668,677 

Other operating income  4 13,035  27,328 

OPERATING EXPENSES  (421,304)   (390,751) 

Material costs 5 (124,784)   (123,843) 

Staff Costs 6 (81,362)   (80,076) 

Depreciation 7 (177,606)   (147,251) 

Other expenses 8 (26,267)   (27,071) 

Value adjustment of fixed and current assets  (1,601)  (775) 

Provisions 8 (3,859)   (1,214) 

Other operating expenses 8 (5,825)   (10,521) 

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS  357,343   305,254 

FINANCIAL INCOME 9 11,390   18,320 

FINANCIAL EXPENSES 9 (17,182)   (3,755) 

PROFIT/LOSS FROM FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 9 (5,792)   14,565 

TOTAL INCOME   790,037   714,325 

TOTAL EXPENSES   (438,486)   (394,506) 

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD   351,551   319,819 

INCOME TAX 10 63,445   57,909 

PROFIT AFTER TAX    288,106   261,910 

Other comprehensive income  -   - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   288,106   261,910 

Earnings per share (HRK) 21 285.92   259.92 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position of the JANAF GROUP 
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ASSETS Note 2020  2019 

FIXED ASSETS  4,321,420  4,019,230 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS:  159,775  129,409 

Concessions, licences, software and other rights 11 153,437  124,397 

Right-of-use assets 12 6,338  5,012 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPEMENT 13 4,107,318  3,836,126 

FINANCIAL ASSETS: 14 50,000  50,000 

Investments in subsidiaries 14,29 -  - 

Other non-current financial assets 14 50,000  50,000 

RECEIVABLES   71  87 

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 10 4,256  3,608 

CURRENT ASSETS  473,250  603,690 

INVENTORIES 15 22,911  19,384 

RECEIVABLES:  87,488  120,686 

Receivables from related parties 29 -  - 

Trade receivables 16 86,047  92,553 

Amounts due from employees and owners 16 25  15 

Receivables from the State and other institutions 16 241  27,142 

Other receivables 16 1,175  976 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 14 36,835  47,216 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 17 326,016  416,404 

OTHER ASSETS  3,800  1,470 
  477,050  605,160 

TOTAL ASSETS  4,798,470  4,624,390 
      

LIABILITIES     

CAPITAL AND RESERVES  4,567,048  4,353,631 

SHARE CAPITAL 18 2,952,438  2,952,438 

CAPITAL RESERVES 19 54  54 

PROFIT RESERVES 19 754,237  616,739 

RETAINED EARNINGS 20 572,216  522,435 

PROFIT OF THE CURENT YEAR 21 288,103  261,965 

PROVISIONS 22 17,447  14,655 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:  83,117  88,203 

Long-term liabilities for the right-of-use assets 12 4,689  3,248 

Other long-term liabilities 23 78,428  84,955 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:  127,947  161,109 

Current liabilities for the right-of-use assets 12 1,784  1,851 

Trade and other payables 24 126,163  159,258 

OTHER LIABILITIES 25 2,911  6,792 
  130,858  167,901 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  4,798,470  4,624,390 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ASSETS Note 2020  2019 

FIXED ASSETS  4,324,265  4,022,012 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS:  159,775  129,409 

Concessions, licences, software and other rights 11 153,437  124,397 

Right-of-use assets 12 6,338  5,012 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPEMENT 13 4,109,965  3,838,727 

FINANCIAL ASSETS: 14 50,198  50,181 

Investments in subsidiaries 14,29 198  181 

Other non-current financial assets 14 50,000  50,000 

RECEIVABLES   71  87 

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 10 4,256  3,608 

CURRENT ASSETS  470,780  600,808 

INVENTORIES 15 22,911  19,384 

RECEIVABLES:  87,242  120,418 

Receivables from related parties 29 5  5 

Trade receivables 16 86,037  92,553 

Amounts due from employees and owners 16 7  15 

Receivables from the State and other institutions 16 21  26,915 

Other receivables 16 1,172  930 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 14 36,834  47,214 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 17 323,793  413,792 

OTHER ASSETS  3,794  1,463 
  474,574  602,271 

TOTAL ASSETS  4,798,839  4,624,283 
      

LIABILITIES     

CAPITAL AND RESERVES  4,566,822  4,353,363 

SHARE CAPITAL 18 2,952,438  2,952,438 

CAPITAL RESERVES 19 54  54 

PROFIT RESERVES 19 754,242  616,739 

RETAINED EARNINGS 20 571,982  522,222 

PROFIT OF THE CURENT YEAR 21 288,106  261,910 

PROVISIONS 22 17,447  14,655 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:  83,117  88,203 

Long-term liabilities for the right-of-use assets 12 4,689  3,248 

Other long-term liabilities 23 78,428  84,955 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:  128,542  161,270 

Current liabilities for the right-of-use assets 12 1,784  1,851 

Trade and other payables 24 126,758  159,419 

OTHER LIABILITIES 25 2,911  6,792 
  131,453  168,062 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  4,798,839  4,624,283 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements. 



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows of the JANAF GROUP 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

JANAF d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb 13 

 

 Note 2020  2019 

Operating activities     

Profit after tax  288,103  261,965 

Adjusted by:     

Income tax 10 63,456  57,935 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 154,375  127,654 

Depreciation of intangible assets 7 20,957  17,250 

Depreciation of the right-of-use assets  2,274  2,348 

Surpluses and net book value of long-term assets 11,13 (7,876)  (7,373) 

Change in provisions, net 22 3,277  471 

Revenue from interests 9 (671)  (5,083) 

Lease interest expense 9 213  217 

Exchange differences on loans  9 (6,526)  2,309 

Operating cash flows before changes in working 
capital 

9 517,582  457,693 

Decrease/(increase) in receivables  16 33,198  (64,009) 

Decrease/(increase) in liabilities 24,25 (30,936)  19,696 

Increase/(decrease) in inventories  15 (3,527)  2,066 

Other decrease/(increase) in receivables  (11,202)  16,062 

Cash generated from operating activities  505,115  431,508 

Paid prepayments of corporate profit tax  (62,191)  (72,170) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  442,924  359,338 

Investment activities     

Interest received  914  6,149 

Payments for purchases of property, plant and 
equipment 

13 (417,737)  (408,984) 

Payments for purchases of intangible assets 11 (49,996)  (21,477) 

(Decrease)/increase in deposits and other financial 
assets 

14 10,380  128,748 

Net cash used in investment activities  (456,439)  (295,564) 

Financing activities     

Dividends paid  (74,647)  (86,569) 

Lease liabilities  (2,226)  (2,272) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (76,873)  (88,841) 

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
17 (90,388) 

 
(25,067) 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the year 

17 416,404  441,471 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 326,016  416,404 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 Note 2020  2019 

Operating activities     

Profit after tax  288,106  261,910 

Adjusted by:     

Profit tax 10 63,445  57,909 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 154,375  127,653 

Depreciation of intangible assets 7 20,957  17,250 

Depreciation of the right-of-use assets  2,274  2,348 

Surpluses and net book value of long term assets 11,13 (7,876)  (7,373) 

Change in provisions, net 22 3,277  471 

Revenue from interests 9 (671)  (5,083) 

Lease interest expense 9 213  217 

Exchange differences on loans  9 (6,526)  2,309 

Operating cash flows before changes in working 
capital 

9 517,574  457,611 

Decrease/(increase) in receivables  16 33,176  (63,990) 

Decrease/(increase) in liabilities 24,25 (30,502)  19,595 

Increase/(decrease) in inventories  15 (3,527)  2,066 

Other decrease/(increase) in receivables  (11,217)  16,035 

Cash generated from operating activities  505,504  431,317 

Paid prepayments of corporate profit tax  (62,191)  (72,144) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  443,313  359,173 

Investment activities     

Interest received  914  6,149 

Payments for purchases of property, plant and 
equipment 

13 (417,737)  (408,984) 

Payments for purchases of intangible assets 11 (49,996)  (21,477) 

(Decrease)/increase in deposits and other financial 
assets 

14 10,380  128,748 

Net cash used in investment activities  (456,439)  (295,564) 

Financing activities     

Dividends paid  (74,647)  (86,569) 

Lease liabilities  (2,226)  (2,272) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (76,873)  (88,841) 

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
17 (89,999) 

 
(25,232) 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the year 

17 413,792  439,024 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 323,793  413,792 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements.
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Profit after 
tax 

    

 Share 
capital 

 Legal 
reserves 

 Capital 
reserves 

 Other 
reserves 

  Retained 
earnings 

 Total 

              

01 January 2019 2,952,438  82,016  54  375,258  304,141  464,368  4,178,275 

Exchange rate differences on 
translation of a foreign operation 

-  -  -    1    1 

Total comprehensive income -  -  -  -  261,965  -  261,965 

Allocation of 2018 profit -  15,188  -  144,277  (217,548)  58,067  (16) 

Dividends paid -  -  -  -  (86,569)  -  (86,569) 

Payments from profit -  -  -  -  (25)  -  (25) 

1 January 2020 2,952,438  97,204  54  519,535  261,965  522,435  4,353,631 

Exchange rate differences on 
translation of a foreign operation 

-  -  -  (5)  6  3  4 

Total comprehensive income -  -  -  -  288,103  -  288,103 

Allocation of 2019 profit -  13,096  -  124,407  (187,299)  49,778  (18) 

Dividends paid -  -  -  -  (74,647)  -  (74,647) 

Payments from profit -  -  -  -  (25)  -  (25) 

31 December 2020 2,952,438  110,300  54  643,937  288,103  572,216  4,567,048 

       The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Profit after 
tax 

    

 Share 
capital 

 Legal 
reserves 

 Capital 
reserves 

 Other 
reserves 

  Retained 
earnings 

 Total 

              

1 January 2019 2,952,438  82,016  54  375,258  303,743  464,513  4,178,022 

Total comprehensive income -  -  -  -  261,910  -  261,910 

Allocation of 2018 profit -  -  -  -  (86,569)  -  (86,569) 

Increase in share capital -  15,188  -  144,277  (217,174)  57,709  - 

01 January 2020 2,952,438  97,204  54  519,535  261,910  522,222  4,353,363 

Total comprehensive income -  -  -  -  288,106  -  288,106 

Dividends paid -  -  -  -  (74,647)  -  (74,647) 

Allocation of 2019 profit -  13,096  -  124,407  (187,263)  49,760  - 

31 December 2020 2,952,438  110,300  54  643,942  288,106  571,982  4,566,822 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these separate financial statements. 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

History and incorporation 

Jadranski naftovod dioničko društvo (“the Company”), Miramarska cesta 24, Zagreb, Republic of Croatia, was 

established upon the transformation of the socially owned enterprise into a public limited company in 1992 in the 

Republic of Croatia and is registered at the Commercial Court in Zagreb under the registration 

number:  080118427, OIB: 89018712265, MB: 03334171 

The Group comprises JANAF d.d. and its two fully owned subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as „Subsidiaries“):  

JANAF – upravljanje projektima d.o.o., Miramarska cesta 24, Zagreb,  Republic of Croatia,  is registered at the 

Commercial Court in Zagreb under the registration number:  080720869, OIB: 06731774966, MB: 02608987 

JANAF-TERMINAL BROD d.o.o. Brod, Zmaj Jove Jovanovića bb, Brod, Bosnia and Herzegovina, JIB: 

4403201480002, MB: 11068235  

The principal activities of the Company comprise transport and storage of oil and oil products, and those of its 

subsidiaries are engineering and technical advisory services.  

The subsidiaries started to operate in late 2010. The Company prepares and presents its consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

Management Board 

 

From 10 February 2012 to 11 February 2020, the members of the Management Board are as follows: 

President of the Management Board, Ph.D. Dragan Kovačević  

Member of the Management Board, Jakša Marasović  

Member of the Management Board, Bruno Šarić  

 

From 12 February 2012 to 25 September 2020, the members of the Management Board are as follows: 

President of the Management Board, Ph.D. Dragan Kovačević  

Member of the Management Board, MSc. Stjepan Adanić 

Member of the Management Board, Vladislav Veselica 

 

From 25 September 2020 on the members of the Management Board are as follows: 

President of the Management Board, MSc. Stjepan Adanić 

Member of the Management Board, Vladislav Veselica 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

Supervisory Board 

 

From 09 November 2018 to 08 November 2020, the members of the Supervisory Board are as follows: 

Biljana Bukić, President, 

Žarko Stilin, Vice president,  

Nina Ban Glasnović, Member and 

Igor Blažinović, Member. 

 

From 09 November 2020 to 17 December 2020, the members of the Supervisory Board are as follows: 

 

Biljana Bukić, President, 

Žarko Stilin, Vice president,  

Nina Ban Glasnović, Member. 

 

From 18 December 2020 on the members of the Supervisory Board are as follows: 

Biljana Bukić, President, 

Žarko Stilin, Vice president,  

Nina Ban Glasnović, Member. 

Nikolina Balen, Member. 

 

During 2020, seven sessions of the Supervisory Board were held in the presence of all members. 

 

 

Audit committee of the Company 

 

From 29 March 2018, the members of the Audit committee are as follows: 

Biljana Bukić, President, 

Žarko Stilin, Member, 

Nina Ban Glasnović, Member. 

 

During 2020, five sessions of the Audit Committee were held in the presence of all members. 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

Related parties 

Related parties comprise subsidiaries and affiliated companies. 

The subsidiaries of JANAF d.d. are JANAF - upravljanje projektima d.o.o., Zagreb and JANAF-TERMINAL BROD 

d.o.o. Brod, Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

Affiliated companies comprise the following: 

Auto cesta Rijeka – Zagreb d.d.  

Croatia Airlines d.d., Zagreb 

HEP d.d.  

Hrvatske autoceste d.o.o.  

Hrvatske ceste d.o.o.  

Hrvatska pošta d.d.  

Hrvatska poštanska banka d.d.  

Hrvatske vode  

HŽ Cargo d.o.o., Zagreb 

HŽ Infrastruktura d.o.o. 

HŽ Putnički prijevoz d.o.o. 

Hrvatske šume d.o.o.  

INA - Industrija nafte d.d.  

Narodne novine d.d. 

Odašiljači i veze d.o.o. 

The affiliated companies refer to entities covered by the Decision on Legal Entities of Special Interest for the 

Republic of Croatia. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the provisions of International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union.  

The Company prepares separate financial statements to reflect the operations of the Company, as well as 

consolidated financial statements for the Group. The Company presents the following separate and consolidated 

annual financial statements:  

 Statement of comprehensive income;  

 Statement of financial position; 

 Statement of cash flows;  

 Statement of changes in equity;  

 Notes to the financial statements.  

 

The Company and the Group operate through segments of transportation and storage of oil and through storage 

of refinery products in Republic of Croatia. The Company and the Group do not have other operating business 

segments. 

In addition to the annual financial statements, the Company prepares its Annual Management Report/Annual 

Report on the State of the Company.  

Pursuant to International Accounting Standard 34 (IAS 34), the provisions of the Capital Market Act and the 

accompanying regulations, the Company presents financial statements for quarterly and semi-annual periods.  

The Company prepares consolidated financial statements for the Group that comprises JANAF d.d. and the 

following subsidiaries: JANAF - upravljanje projektima d.o.o., Zagreb, Republic of Croatia and JANAF-

TERMINAL BROD d.o.o. Brod, Bosnia and Herzegovina. JANAF-TERMINAL BROD d.o.o. Brod represents 

foreign operations.  

Exchange differences arisen on translation of the foreign operation are included in the consolidated financial 

statements within other reserves in equity. Balances between Group subsidiaries, all unrealized gains and losses, 

as well as income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions are eliminated during preparation of 

consolidated financial statements. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.1. Initial application of new amendments to the existing standards effective for current financial 
period 

The following amendments to the existing standards and new interpretation issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU are effective for current financial period: 

 

 amendments to the Conceptual Framework of IFRS Standards – amended definitions of assets and 

liabilities, as well as new guidelines on measurement and termination of recognition, on presentation and 

disclosure, adopted by the EU on 29 November 2019, are included (effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after 01 January 2020), 

 amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” – a definition of “materiality“ has been issued to align the 

definitions used in the conceptual framework and the standards themselves, adopted by EU on  29 

November 2019. (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020), 

 amendments to IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments”, IAS 39  “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement” and IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” - “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform“, 

adopted by the EU on 15 January 2020 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2020), 

 amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” -  a definition of business has been issued to 

differentiate from taking over a group of assets, adopted by the European Union on 21 April, 2020  (effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2020). 

In addition, the Company and the Group have consistently applied the accounting policies for all periods 

presented in the financial statements. Adoption of these amendments to existing standards and interpretations 

did not result in material changes to the financial statements. 

2.2. amendments to the existing standards published by the IASB and adopted by the EU but not yet 
in force 

On the date of approval of publishing of the financial statements, the following new amendments to existing 

standards issued by IASB and adopted by the European Union: 

 amendments to IFRS 16 "Leases” - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions, adopted by the EU on 09 

October 2020 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 June 2020).  

 amendments to IFRS 4 "Insurance Contracts" - extension of temporary exemption from the application 

of IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" for two years, adopted by the European Union on 15 December 2020. 

(expires for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 amendments to IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments”, IAS 39  “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement” and IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” - “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform“, 

adopted by the EU on 13 January 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021), 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

The Company and the Group have decided not to adopt these amendments of the existing standards before their 

effective date. The Company and the Group anticipate that the amendment of existing standards will not have 

material impact on the Company’s and Group’s financial statements for the period of initial application. 

2.3. New standards and changes to existing standards issued by the IASB, not yet adopted by the EU 

The IFRSs currently adopted by the EU do not differ significantly from the regulations adopted by the IASB, with 

the exception of the following standards and amendments to existing standards, on adoption of which the EU 

has not yet decided until the publication of these financial statements (the dates of entry into force given below 

apply to IFRSs published by IASB):  

 

 IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts" (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). 

 Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - “Classification of Liabilities as Current  

or Non-current” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 amendments to IFRS 3 "Business combinations", IAS 16 "Property, Plant and Equipment", IAS 37 

"Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets" and Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-

2020 Cycle - (effective for annual periods beginning on the day or after 1 January 2022), 

 IFRS 17 "Insurance Contracts" (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2023). 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 "Consolidated Financial Statements" and IAS 28 "Investments in Associates 

and Joint Ventures" – "Sales or Contributions of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture" (the initial date of entry into force of these amendments was postponed until further notice by the 

IASB). 

 

The Company and the Group anticipate that adoption of the new accounting standards (listed in the financial 

statements), as well as the amendments of existing standards will not have material impact on the Company’s 

and Group’s financial statements for the period of initial application. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Basis of presentation 

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 

instruments measured at fair value. 

Unless specified otherwise, the financial statements are presented in the Croatian currency, the Croatian kuna 

(HRK), which is the functional currency of the Company, rounded to the nearest thousand. 

The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Company and the Group, unless stated otherwise. 

Foreign currencies 

In the separate financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, transactions in currencies other than 

Croatian kuna are presented initially by translating them at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the 

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in such currencies are retranslated at the rates 

prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arisen on the retranslation are included in the 

Statement of comprehensive income.  

In the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each Group entity are expressed in 

the Croatian kuna (HRK), which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the 

consolidated financial statements. 

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of the foreign operation are 

translated as follows: 

 items of the Statement of financial position are translated to the HRK using the Croatian National Bank’s 

middle exchange rate as at  reporting date,  

 income and expense items are translated using the Croatian National Bank’s middle exchange rate for 

the period, 

 exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements are reported within 

reserves. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits over the period deriving from the ordinary activities of the 

Company which results in capital increase, in addition to the increase in capital relating to the inputs of 

participants in capital. 

In accordance with IFRS 15, the Company recognizes revenue when (or to the extent) the Company fulfils its 

execution obligation by transferring the promised goods or service (i.e. the asset) to the customer. Assets have 

been transferred when (or to the extent) the buyer obtains control over that asset.  

An entity transfers control over the service over time and therefore, over time, fulfils the execution obligation and 

recognizes revenue, given that the client simultaneously receives and uses the benefits that arise from the 

execution of the entity while the entity performs the execution.  

The Company uses the output method to measure progress towards full completion of its obligations. 
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Output methods recognize income on the basis of a direct measurement of the value that the goods or services 

transferred until a certain date have for the buyer, in relation to the remaining goods or services promised by the 

contract. 

 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

The Company uses a practical solution from IFRS 15.B16 since it has the right to a client's compensation in the 

amount that directly corresponds to the value, it recognizes revenue in the amount that it has the right to invoice. 

When (or to the extend to which) the execution obligation is met, the Company recognizes the transaction price 

(excluding the limited variable rate estimates) as revenue that is allocated to that execution obligation. The 

transaction price is the amount of compensation the entity is expecting to exercise the right to, in return for the 

transfer of the promised goods or services to the buyer, excluding the amounts charged on behalf of third parties. 

The compensation promised in the contract with the buyer may include fixed amounts, variable amounts or both. 

Provision of services 

When it was possible to reliably estimate the outcome of the transaction involving the provision of services, then 

the revenues associated with that transaction were recognized by the degree of completion of the transaction on 

the date of the report on the financial position. 

It was possible to reliably estimate the outcome of the transaction when all of the following conditions were met: 

(a) it was possible to reliably measure the amount of income, 

(b) it was likely that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company, 

(c) it was possible to reliably measure the degree of completion of the transaction on the reporting date of the 

financial position, and 

(d) it was possible to reliably measure the incurred transaction costs and the costs of completing the transaction. 

When it was not possible to reliably estimate the outcome of a transaction involving the provision of services, 

revenue was recognized only in the amount of recognized recoverable expenses. 

Interest income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as it occurs, taking into account the 

effective interest rate of the asset or the applicable variable rate. Interest income includes the depreciation of any 

discount or premium and other differences between the initial carrying amount of the interest-bearing financial 

instrument and the amount at maturity, with the application of the effective interest rate. 

Net finance costs 

Net finance cost consists of interest expense on borrowings, late-payment interest, interest income on 

receivables and cash balances, foreign exchange gains and losses, gains or losses on financial assets at fair 

value through profit and loss, gains and losses on sale of shares, and dividends.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost 

of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. 

All other borrowing costs are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are 

incurred. 

 

Retirement benefit costs 

The Company and the Group have no defined post-retirement benefit plans for their employees or management. 

Accordingly, the Company and the Group have no outstanding liabilities for either their present or former 

employees based on the post-retirement payments.  

Provisions were made to the extent of the present value of the benefits using a discount rate of 0.1% (2019: 

0.1%) and taking into account the employee turnover rate of 0.92 (2019: 0.87), determined by taking into account 

historical trends in the Company and the Group during past five years. The discount rate of 0.1% has been 

determined based on the average interest rate on the Croatian government bonds. 

Taxation 

Individual Group members determine their income tax in accordance with the laws applicable in the jurisdictions 

in which they operate. The Company assesses and pays taxes in accordance with Croatian laws. Income tax 

expense comprises the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently payable is based on taxable 

profit for the year, using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the financial 

statements, including adjustments to the tax liability in respect of prior years. Deferred tax is provided using the 

balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is the tax 

expected to be payable or recoverable on the differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 

using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the financial statements. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 

which deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognize to the 

extent that future taxable profits will be sufficient to allow those temporary differences and unused tax losses to 

be utilized. Deferred tax assets and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 

will be utilized.  
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Related parties  

Related parties comprise subsidiaries and affiliated companies. 

Other affiliated companies 

Affiliated companies are those with which the Company has common management or partners but which are 

neither an investment nor an associated company. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recognized initially at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. Cost includes the purchase price and directly associated cost of bringing the asset to a 

working condition for its intended use. Maintenance and repairs costs, replacements and improvements of minor 

importance are expensed as incurred. Significant improvements and replacement of assets are capitalized. Gains 

or losses on the retirement or disposal of property, plant and equipment are included in the statement of 

comprehensive income in the period they occur. 

Depreciation is recognized in Statement of the comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated 

useful life of each item of property, plant and equipment. Land, operational crude oil and assets under 

construction are not depreciated.  

The estimated useful lives for individual categories of the assets are as follows: 

 2020 2019 

Buildings 40 years 40 years 

Oil pipelines and tanks 40 years 40 years 

Plant and equipment 10 – 20 years 10 – 20 years 

Office furniture 5 years 5 years 

Telecommunication and IT equipment 2-5 years 2-5 years 

Personal vehicles 4 years 4 years 

Additional investments in tanks, pipelines and other assets are depreciated over the remaining or estimated 

useful life of the related assets. Capitalized cost of pipeline testing using the intelligent PIG are depreciated over 

a period of five years. 

Operational crude oil 

Operational crude oil is oil owned by the Group and the Company, which is located in oil pipelines and tanks for 

the purpose of facilitating oil transportation and carrying out the core business of the Company and the Group. 

The value of the operational crude oil is stated at cost, i.e. at historical book value. The amount of operational 

crude oil in circulation is estimated annually. Excess or deficit is recognized as profit or loss of the period.  
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets with estimated useful life are recognized according to acquisition cost less accumulated 

depreciation.  

In the statement of comprehensive income, the depreciation is recognized according to a straight-line method 

over the estimated useful life of each item of intangible assets. Assets with an indefinite useful life are not 

depreciated, but they are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36. 

The useful life of individual groups of intangible assets is estimated as follows: 

 2020 2019 

Licences and  software applications 4 years 4 years 

Grid connection power permit 40 years 40 years 

Monitoring and control system software 15 years 15 years 

Production process monitoring systems 10 years 10 years 

   

   
Currently, the Company has access to maritime demesne and assets thereon based on the concession 

agreement concluded with the State. Properties, plant and equipment covered by the agreement are recognized 

according to acquisition cost less value adjustments. 

Assets under the concession agreement are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful 

life of an asset, taking into account the period of concession agreement. 

Impairment of assets 

At each date of the financial statements, the Company and the Group review the carrying amounts of its property, 

plant and equipment and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 

suffered an impairment loss. If such indications exist, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to 

determine the extent of potential impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating 

unit) is estimated to be less that its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

reduced to its recoverable amount. In 2020 there were no indications of a potential impairment of property, plant 

and equipment, and the management estimates that the carrying amount of those assets is lower than the 

recoverable amount.  

 

Leases (IFRS 16) 

The Company has adopted IFRS 16 with the date of initial application on 1 January 2019.  

At the beginning of the contract, the Company estimates whether the contract is a lease contract, i.e. whether it 

contains elements of a lease.  
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

A contract is a lease contract, i.e. contains elements of a lease, if it grants the right to control the use of certain 

assets during a given period in exchange for a fee. In order to determine whether a contract contains a lease, 

the Company estimates whether:  

• the contract explicitly defines the asset, but can also be determined by implicit reference at the time it is 

leased to the lessee. Asset should be physically specified or substantially represent  the entire capacity 

of an asset. If the lessor has a significant right to substitute the asset, the asset is considered non 

specified; 

• has the right to acquire substantially all the economic benefits from the use of certain assets; 

• has the right to determine the purpose and manner of using the asset.  

 

The right to determine the manner and purpose of using the asset exist if the Company, within the scope of its 

right of use set out in the contract, can change the manner and purpose of use of that asset throughout the period 

of use. In rare cases, the manner and purpose of the use of the asset is determined in advance and it is 

considered that the Company has the right to determine the purpose and manner of the use of the asset if: 

i) the user has the right to manage the asset (i.e. direct others to manage it in the manner that he had determined) 

throughout the entire period of use, whereat the supplier does not have the right to change these management 

instructions; or  

(ii) the user has designed the asset (or some of its aspects) in a way that the manner and purpose of its use 

throughout the whole period of use are predetermined. 

 

i) Company as lessee 

The Company recognizes the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities from the first day of the lease. 

The initial measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost. Cost of the right-of-use assets includes:  

(a) the amount of the initially measured lease liability,  

 (b) all lease payments made on or before the first day of the lease term, less any received lease aid;  

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and  

(d) cost estimate that the lessee will incur in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the location 

of the asset or restoring the asset to the state required by the terms of the lease contract, unless those costs 

have been incurred for the purpose of producing inventory.  

The liability for the stated costs for the Company arises on the first day of the lease term or as a consequence of 

the use of the underlying asset during a specified period. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets 

After the first day of the lease, the Company measures the right-of-use assets using the cost model:  

(a) less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses; and  

(b) adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. 

If the lease transfers the ownership of the asset to the Company until the end of the lease term, the Company 

depreciates the underlying asset from the first day of the lease term until the end of the useful life of the asset. 

In all other cases, the Company shall depreciate the right-of-use assets from the first day of the lease term until 

the end of its useful life or until the end of the lease period, whichever is earlier. 

 

Initial measurement of the lease liability  

On the first day of the lease, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of all lease payments 

that were not made on that date. These payments are discounted at the incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of a lease liability on the first day of its lease term include the 

following payments for the underlying right-of-use assets during the lease term that were not paid on the first day 

of the lease term:  

(a) fixed payments (including essentially fixed payments), less any received lease aid;  

(b) variable payments that depend on a particular index or rate and are initially measured at that index or rate on 

the first day of the lease term;  

(c) amounts expected to be payable to the lessee within the guaranteed residual value;  

(d) cost of using the surrender option if there is a probability that the lessee will exercise that option; and  

(e) penalties for termination of the lease, if the lease term indicates that the lessee has exercised that option. 

 

Subsequent measurement of the lease liability  

After the first day of the lease term, the Company measures the lease liability by:  

(a) increasing book values, in order to take in account the interest on the lease obligation;  

(a) decreasing book values, in order to take in account the lease payments made; and  

(c) remeasuring book values, in order to take in account any reassessment or change in lease or fixed lease 

payments. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

The Company remeasures its lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments at a revised discount rate 

in the event of:  

(a) changes in the lease term, in which case the Company determines the revised lease payments based on the 

revised lease term; or  

(b) changes in the assessment of the option of repurchasing the underlying asset, by taking into account the 

events and circumstances in the context of the repurchase option. In this case, the Company establishes revised 

lease payments to reflect changes in the amount payable under the option of repurchasing. 

The Company remeasures its lease liability by discounting revised lease payments if:  

(a) there is a change in the amount expected to be received under the guaranteed residual value, in which case 

the lessee establishes revised lease payments to reflect this change in the amount expected to be received under 

the guaranteed residual value;  

(b) there is a change in future lease payments as a result of a change in the index or rate used to determine 

them, including, for example, acknowledging changes in market lease prices. The Company remeasures its lease 

obligations to take into account changes in lease payments only when there are changes in cash flows.  The 

Company determines revised lease payments until the end of the lease term based on revised contractual 

payments. 

Reassessment of a lease liability  

After the first day of the lease, the Company remeasures the lease obligation to acknowledge changes in the 

lease payments. The Company recognizes the value of the lease liability determined by this remeasurement as 

an adjustment of the right-of-use assets. However, if the book value of the right-of-use assets is reduced to zero 

and there is a further decrease in the measurement of the lease liability, the Company recognizes any remaining 

amount of that new measured value in the income statement. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Short-term leases and low-value asset leases 

The Company has chosen not to recognize short-term lease contracts (12 months or less) and low-value lease 

contracts as the right-of-use assets and lease obligations. The Company recognizes payments on these leases 

as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the duration of the contract.  

ii) Company as lessor 

The Company classifies each lease at the beginning of the contract as a business lease or a financial lease. A 

lease is classified as a financial lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the 

underlying asset. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all of the risks and 

benefits of an ownership of the underlying asset. 

 

Recognition and measurement 

The Company recognized payments from operating leases as income on a straight-line basis under the item 

"Other income". 

The lessor recognizes costs incurred in obtaining the lease income, including depreciation costs, as an expense. 

The lessor adds the initial direct costs incurred in obtaining the operating lease to the book value of underlying 

asset and recognizes it as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.  

The Company leases business premise, land and telecommunications infrastructure. The Company has 

classified these leases as operating leases because substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the 

asset are not transferred.  

Inventories 

Inventories are valued according to acquisition cost or net market value, whichever is lower. Acquisition cost 

comprises costs directly attributable to purchase of inventories and bringing them to their present condition and 

to their present location. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Financial instruments 

As of 1 January 2018, the Company classifies financial instruments in three categories: amortized cost, fair value 

through other comprehensive income or the fair value through profit or loss. 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial 

liability or equity instrument of another enterprise. 

In the ordinary course of operations, the Company uses the following primary financial instruments: 

 investments in subsidiaries, and 

 investments in other financial instruments, which are presented in the balance sheet.  

The Company and the Group recognize financial liabilities initially at their fair value plus transaction costs directly 

attributable with the acquisition or delivery of a financial liability. They are measured subsequently at amortized 

cost using the effective interest method.  

 

Investments in subsidiaries  

Investments in subsidiaries are carried initially at the nominal value of the investments in separated financial 

statements. Subsequently, the method of cost less any impairment losses is applied.  

The Group consists of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company prepares separate financial statements 

as well as consolidated financial statements for the Group. 

In its separate financial statements, the Company presents dividend receivables from its subsidiaries once the 

right to receive the dividend has been established. 

 

Investments in other financial instruments 

Investments in other financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities from the following 

categories: 

 financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, 

 held-to-maturity investments, 

 loans and receivables, and 

 financial assets available for sale, depending on the intent at the point of their acquisition.  
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 

The Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position if and only 

if the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

Financial assets are designated as durable in the case of financial investments for a period longer than one year 

for the purpose of earning or profit. Investments over a period of less than one year represent short-term financial 

assets. 

A financial instrument is any contract resulting in the formation of a financial asset of a company and a financial 

liability or equity instrument of another company. 

Financial assets are any assets that are: 

a) money, 

b)  proprietary instrument of another company, 

c)  contractual right to: 

i) receive money or other financial assets from another company, or 

ii) exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another company under conditions that are 

potentially more favourable to the Company, or 

d) a contract that will be settled or can be settled by the Company's own equity instruments and which represents:

  

i) non-derivative instrument for which the Company is or may be required to receive a variable number 

of its own equity instruments of another company or  

ii) derivative that will be settled or can settled in a manner different from the exchange of fixed amounts 

of money or other financial assets for the fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments. 

In the ordinary course of operations, the Company uses the following primary financial instruments: 

 Investments in subsidiaries 

 Trade receivables 

 Given loans 

 Money and deposits 

 Investments in other financial instruments as shown in the balance sheet 

Except for customer receivables, at initial recognition, an entity measures the financial asset or financial liability 

at its fair value. 

At initial recognition, the Company measures customer receivables that do not have a significant financial 

component (determined in accordance with IFRS 15) at their transaction price. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

After initial recognition, the entity measures the financial assets by:  

(a) amortized cost,  

(b) fair value through another comprehensive income, or  

(c) fair value through profit or loss. 

Classification of financial assets   

Classification and measurement of financial assets is based on the characteristics of contracted cash flows of 

financial assets and, for financial assets whose contractual cash flows represent the remaining principal and 

interest payments, on the business model of the Company related to asset management. Depending on the 

business model, financial assets are classified as "held for collection" contractual cash flows (measured at 

amortized cost), assets held for collection and sale "(measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income) or "held for other purposes" (measured at fair value through profit or loss). 

Impairment of financial assets: 

At each reporting date, the Company measures the impairment allowance for a financial instrument in the amount 

equal to the expected credit losses if the credit risk for that financial instrument has increased significantly from 

the initial recognition.  

If, on the reporting date, the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly from the initial 

recognition, the Company shall measure the loss adjustment for this financial instrument in the amount equal to 

the 12-month expected credit losses.  

The Company recognizes in profit or loss, as the profit or loss on value impairment, the amount of expected 

credit losses (or cancellations). 

At each reporting date, the Company estimates whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for 

financial instruments from initial recognition. When making an estimate, the Company uses the changes in the 

risk of non-payment occurred during the expected life of the financial instrument instead of the change in 

expected credit losses. To make an estimate, the Company compares the risk of non-payment occurred for the 

financial instrument on the reporting date with the risk of non-payment occurred for the financial instrument on 

the date of initial recognition and takes into account reasonable and acceptable information. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Significant increase in credit risk 

When assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly from initial 

recognition, the Company will consider information that are reasonable and can be relied upon, as well as 

relevant information available without unnecessary expense or effort, including quantitative and qualitative 

information and analysis based on historical data of the Company wherever appropriate, including professional 

assessments and expectations of future trends. 

The input data used to calculate the expected credit loss refer to the following variables: 

 Probability of non-fulfilment of the obligation  

 Expected loss rate  

 Exposure at the moment of non-fulfilment of the obligation  

These parameters will be derived from internally developed models, regulatory values and expert judgement. 

The specified variables will be adjusted to reflect the expected future trends. 

Expected future trends 

The Company will include forward-looking information when assessing whether the credit risk of the instrument 

has increased significantly from the initial recognition and when calculating the expected credit loss.  

Termination of recognition of financial assets 

The Company ceases to recognize financial assets when: 

(a) contractual rights to cash flows from financial assets expire, or  

(b) it transfers financial assets and the transfer fulfils the terms for the termination of recognition. 

Transfer of financial assets 

An entity transfers financial assets when: 

(a) it transfers contractual rights to receive cash flows from financial assets, or 

(b) it retains contractual rights to receive cash flows from financial assets, while assuming a contractual obligation 

to pay cash flows to one or more recipients in the arrangement. 

 

  



Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

JANAF d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb 36 

 

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Financial liabilities and equity instruments  

A financial liability is any obligation that is: 

a) a contractual obligation to: 

i) deliver money or other financial assets to another company, or 

ii) exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another company under conditions that are 

potentially less favourable to the Company; or 

b) a contract that will be or can be settled with the Company's own equity instruments and represents: 

i) non-derivative instrument for which the Company will be or may be required to deliver a variable 

number of Company's own equity instruments, or  

ii) derivative that will be or can be settled in a manner different from the exchange of fixed amounts of 

money or other financial assets for the fixed number of own equity instruments of the Company. For this 

purpose, the entity's own equity instruments do not include instruments that are contracts for the future 

receipt or delivery of the equity instruments of the entity. 

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus the 

transaction costs that are directly related to the acquisition or delivery of a financial asset or a financial liability. 

The initial recognition of a financial asset is made on the date of the contract. 

Hedge accounting 

The Company and the Group do not apply any forms of hedge accounting other than natural hedge.  

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized in the Statement of comprehensive income and the Statement of financial position 

when the Group and the Company have a legal or contractual obligation as a result of past events and when it 

is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Comparatives 

Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation.  

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty  

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described above, the Management is required 

to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on past experience 

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.  

Useful life of property, plant and equipment 

The determination of the useful life of the assets is based on past experience involving similar assets, as well as 

on anticipated changes in the economic environment and industry-specific factors. The useful life is reviewed 

annually or whenever there are indications of significant changes in the underlying assumptions. We believe this 

accounting estimate is significant given the considerable share of depreciable assets in the total assets. 

Therefore, any change in the underlying assumptions could be material for the Company's financial position and 

the results of its operations. 

Impairment of financial assets: 

At each reporting date, the Company estimates whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for 

financial instruments from initial recognition. When making an estimate, the Company uses the changes in the 

risk of non-payment occurred during the expected life of the financial instrument instead of the change in 

expected credit losses. To make an estimate, the Company compares the risk of non-payment occurred for the 

financial instrument on the reporting date with the risk of non-payment occurred for the financial instrument on 

the date of initial recognition and takes into account reasonable and acceptable information. 

Actuarial estimates used in determining the retirement benefits 

The cost of defined benefits is determined using actuarial estimates. Actuarial estimates involve assumptions 

about discount rates, future salary increases and the mortality or fluctuation rates. Because of the long-term 

nature of those plans, there is uncertainty surrounding those estimates.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Revenue recognition 

In accordance with IFRS 15, the Company uses the exit method of measurement of progress towards the 

complete fulfilment of the execution obligations: 

By output methods, income is recognized on the basis of a direct measurement of the value of the goods or 

services transferred until a certain date for the buyer in relation to the remaining goods or services promised by 

the contract. 

The Company uses a practical solution from IFRS 15.B16 since it has the right to a client's compensation in the 

amount that directly corresponds to the value, it recognizes revenue in the amount that it has the right to invoice. 

When (or to the extend to which) the execution obligation is met, the Company recognizes the transaction price 

(excluding the limited variable rate estimates) as revenue that is allocated to that execution obligation. The 

transaction price is the amount of compensation the entity is expecting to exercise the right to, in return for the 

transfer of the promised goods or services to the buyer, excluding the amounts charged on behalf of third parties. 

The compensation promised in the contract with the buyer may include fixed amounts, variable amounts or both. 

Consequences of certain legal actions 

The Company is involved in legal actions and proceedings which have arisen from the regular course of its 

operations. The management makes estimates when the probable outcome of a legal action has been assessed, 

and the provisions are recognized on a consistent basis (see notes 22 and 27). 

Operational crude oil 

Operational crude oil is owned by the Group and the Company and it comprises the oil in pipeline and tanks 

which facilitates the transportation of commercial oil. The Management estimates the amount of oil on the 

circulation annually, according to an independent agency assessment. 
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3.  SALES 

Revenues from principal activities of the subsidiaries representing intra group transactions were eliminated from 

consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

The principal activities of the Group and of the Company are divided into oil transportation activities and storage 

of oil and refinery products. 

  JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  2020   2019  2020   2019 

Oil transportation  406,389  388,236  406,389  388,236 

Oil storage  235,658  174,117  235,658  174,117 

Storage of refinery products  115,804  100,627  115,804  100,627 

Other  7,775  5,697  7,761  5,697 

  765,626  668,677  765,612  668,677 

 

Operating income generated from the principal activities of the Group and the Company on the domestic and 

international markets is as follows.  

  
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  
2020  2019  2020  2019 

Domestic market         

Storage of refinery products  115,804  100,627  115,804  100,627 

Oil storage  112,073  85,698  112,073  85,698 

Oil transportation  31,785  41,635  31,785  41,635 

Other  7,728  5,636  7,714  5,636 

Total domestic market  267,390  233,596  267,376  233,596 

International market         

Oil transportation  374,604  346,601  374,604  346,601 

Oil storage  123,585  88,419  123,585  88,419 

Other  47  61  47  61 

Total international market  498,236  435,081  498,236  435,081 

  765,626  668,677  765,612  668,677 

 

Income from contracts with customers 

In JANAF d.d. the invoicing is made monthly for the services provided in the previous month. Customers usually 

pay within 15-30 days.  

The Company transfers control of the service over a period of time and therefore fulfils its obligation over a period 

of time and recognizes income as the customer simultaneously receives and uses the benefits arising from the 

service that customer receives from the Company.  

The Company uses the output method to measure progress towards full completion of its obligations. 
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3.  SALES (CONTINUED) 

Through output methods the income is recognized on the basis of direct measurement of the value that the 

services transferred up to a given date have for the customer, in relation to the remaining services promised by 

the contract. 

The Company uses a practical solution from IFRS 15.B16 since it has the right to a client's compensation in the 

amount that directly corresponds to the value, it recognizes revenue in the amount that it has the right to invoice. 

Nature, time of fulfilment of obligations and significant payment conditions 

 

The following is a description of the services provided by the Company on the basis of which it generates its revenues: 

Type of service Nature, time of fulfilment of obligations and significant payment conditions 

Oil 

transportation 

The Company fulfils its obligations regarding revenues from oil transportation services while the 

services are provided, in the month preceding the invoicing. Customers reserve transportation 

capacities on a "lot for empty" principle for contracted oil tonnage. Transport service includes: 

receiving of oil whose characteristics are within the limits previously contracted and transport 

via the Company's transportation system to the contracted location. Contracts do not have a 

significant funding component, the payment time frame explicitly agreed by the contracting 

parties does not allow the customer or the Company to benefit significantly from the financing 

of the transfer of services to the customer. Usual payment terms are within 30 days. The fee 

amount is variable in the case of overpassing the limits contracted and listed in the technical 

conditions for access to the Company's transport capacities. Most often the contract with the 

customer is concluded for a period of one year. 

Oil storage 

The Company fulfils its obligations related to the revenues from the oil storage services while 

the services are provided, in the month preceding the invoicing. Customers reserve the 

capacities on the "lot for empty" principle for contracted capacity in cubic meters. Storage service 

includes: reception, storage and delivery of oil at customer's request (manipulation). Contracts 

do not have a significant funding component, the payment time frame explicitly agreed by the 

contracting parties does not allow the customer or the Company to benefit significantly from the 

financing of the transfer of services to the customer. Usual payment terms are within 30 days. 

Most often the contract with the customer is concluded for a period of one year. 

Storage of 

refinery 

products 

The Company fulfils its obligations related to the revenues from the refinery products' storage 

services while the services are provided, in the month preceding the invoicing. Customers 

reserve the capacities on the "lot for empty" principle for contracted capacity in cubic meters. 

Storage service includes: reception, storage and delivery of oil at customer's request 

(manipulation). Contracts do not have a significant funding component, the payment time frame 

explicitly agreed by the contracting parties does not allow the customer or the Company to 

benefit significantly from the financing of the transfer of services to the customer. Usual payment 

terms are within 30 days. Most often the contract with the customer is concluded for a period of 

one year. 
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4. OTHER INCOME  

  JANAF GROUP  JANAF D.D. 

  2020   2019  2020   2019 

Revenues from inventory surpluses  9,459  7,710  9,459  7,710 

Rent income  1,492  1,256  1,492  1,292 

Income from reversal of provision and 

adjustment of long term obligations 
 582  743  582  743 

Revenues from collected written-off 

receivables and litigations 
 61  16,290  61  16,290 

Other operating income  1,388  1,277  1,441  1,293 

  12,982  27,276  13,035  27,328 

5. MATERIAL COSTS 

  JANAF GROUP 
 

JANAF D.D. 

  2020  2019  2020  2019 

Cost of raw materials:         

Operational electrical power  26,712  21,128  26,712  21,128 

Material and spare parts  8,788  8,513  8,784  8,467 

Fuel and lubricant for vehicles  1,084  1,496  1,059  1,496 

Other energy costs  1,532  1,343  1,530  1,340 

  38,116  32,480  38,085  32,431 

Other external costs:         

Maintenance  30,388  35,312  30,362  35,308 

Manufacturing services  27,418  22,801  27,418  22,801 

Other external services  8,179  11,253  10,826  14,213 

Advertising, public relations  
and sponsorship 

 6,883  6,922  6,883  6,887 

Rents  2,001  1,897  1,871  1,820 

Easement  1,296  713  1,296  713 

Licence maintenance  1,195  2,196  1,195  2,196 

Road worthiness tests, car maintenance 
and other maintenance 

 1,460  1,603  1,460  1,603 

Transport and postal services  804  930  778  905 

Environmental protection services  643  698  643  698 

Physical exams  573  -  572  - 

Other material costs  3,401  4,473  3,395  4,268 

  84,241  88,798  86,699  91,412 

  122,357  121,278  124,784  123,843 

The compensation for the audit company for the legally prescribed audit of the annual financial statements in the 

amount of HRK 235 thousand is placed under other external services. Tax consulting services amounted to HRK 

66 thousand in the current year. Consulting services other than auditing and tax consulting amounted to HRK 

662 thousand. 
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6. STAFF COSTS  

  
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  
2020  2019   2020  2019 

Gross salaries  73,946 
 

73,443   72,090  71,675 

Contributions on salaries   12,566   12,539   12,257   12,215 

  86,512   85,982   84,347   83,890 

Capitalised staff costs  (2,985)   (3,814)   (2,985)   (3,814) 

Total staff costs  83,527   82,168   81,362   80,076 

          

The gross salary cost 
comprises the following:  

  
 

      

Net salaries  50,106  48,991   48,854  47,791 

Taxes and contributions on 
salaries 

 23,840  24,452   23,236  23,884 

  73,946  73,443   72,090   71,675 

 

As at 31 December 2020 there were 382 persons employed by the Company (31 December 2019: 385). The 

total number of staff employed by the Group on 31 December 2020 is 391 (31 December 2019: 394).  

The average actual number of employees in the current year was 385 for the Company and 394 for the Group 

(2019: 380 for the Company and 389 for the Group). The average number of employees on the basis of a working 

hours amounted to 377 workers for the Company and 386 for the Group (2019: 371 employees for the Company 

and 380 employees for the Group). 

Out of the total staff costs for the Company in the amount of HRK 84,347 thousand and for the Group in the 

amount of HRK 86,512 thousand (2019: HRK 83,890 thousand for the Company and HRK 85,982 thousand for 

the Group), HRK 2,985 thousand were capitalized (2019: HRK 3,814 thousand) and recognized as investments, 

whereas the staff costs were reduced by these amounts in the Statement of comprehensive income.  

Staff costs of the Group include the amount of HRK 15,166 thousand (2019: HRK 15,159 thousand) paid for 

contributions in mandatory pension funds calculated as a percentage of gross salaries. In 2020, 9 new employees 

were hired and 12 left the Company. 

 

7.  DEPRECIATION 

Depreciation of the Company and the Group amounted to HRK 177,606 thousand  (2019: HRK 147,251 thousand 

for the Company and HRK 14,252 thousand for the Group). Depreciation is calculated by applying the linear 

method of depreciation to the individual purchase costs of intangible assets, properties, plants and equipment, 

without correction for the remainder of the value, at depreciation rates determined by the Group’s and the 

Company’s accounting policy. In 2020, there has been an increase in depreciation compared to previous periods, 

largely as a result of the entry into service of tangible fixed assets of significant value. Depreciation of the right-

of-use assets amounted to HRK 2,274 thousand in the current year (2019: HRK 2,348 thousand).   



Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

JANAF d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb 43 

 

8. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

   
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  2020  2019   2020  2019 

Other expenses  26,474  27,352   26,267  27,071 

Provisions  3,859  1,214   3,859  1,214 

Other operating expenses  5,833  10,578   5,825  10,521 

Value adjustment of fixed 
and current material assets 

 1,601  776   1,601  775 

  37,767  39,920   37,552  39,581 

8.1. Other expenses 

  
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  
2020  2019   2020  2019 

Local taxes  10,413  10,653   10,409  10,646 

Insurance  5,436  3,454   5,425  3,443 

Severance and other employee 
benefits 

 3,769  4,167   3,710  4,118 

Training and education  1,961  2,042   1,960  2,037 

Travel costs  1,723  3,692   1,649  3,586 

Employees’ transportation costs  1,383  1,614   1,357  1,591 

Membership fees  597  486   591  486 

Fees to Supervisory Board and 
Audit Committee Members  352  334   352  334 

Reserve charges  237  220   237  220 

Bank charges  166  298   158  288 

Other expenses  437  392   419  322 

  26,474  27,352   26,267  27,071 

Severance pays and other employee benefits include all the obligations of the Company under the Collective 

Agreement and Decisions adopted.  
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8.  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 
 
8.2. Provisions 
 

  
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  
2020  2019  2020  2019 

Provisions for contractual obligations 

towards employees  3,609  -  3,609  - 

Litigation provisions  154  420  154  420 

Provisions for severance pays and 

jubilee awards  96  794  96  794 

  3,859  1,214  3,859  1,214 

 

8.3.  Other operating expenses 
 
Other operating expenses of the Company in the amount of HRK 5,825 thousand and of the Group in the amount 

of HRK 5,833 thousand (2019: HRK 10,521 thousand for the Company and HRK 10,578 thousand for the Group) 

comprise subsequently identified costs from previous periods, costs of donations and indemnity costs. 

 
8.4  Value adjustment of fixed and current material assets 
 
Value adjustment of fixed and current material assets in the amount of HRK 1,601 thousand (2019: HRK 775 

thousand) related to the present value of the assets spent during the year and the present value of the 

derecognised part of the pipeline that is no longer in use. 
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9.  NET FINANCIAL INCOME 

  JANAF GROUP  JANAF D.D. 

  2020  2019  2020  2019 

Interest income   672  5,083  672  5,083 

Positive foreign exchange differences  10,718  13,237  10,718  13,237 

Total financial income  11,390  18,320  11,390  18,320 

Interest on borrowings, penalty interest 
and other financial expenses 

 (12)  (14)  (12)  (14) 

Negative foreign exchange differences  (16,957)  (3,524)  (16,957)  (3,524) 

Interests on the right-of-use assets.  (213)  (217)  (213)  (217) 

Total finance costs  (17,182)  (3,755)  (17,182)  (3,755) 

Net financial income/costs  (5,792)  14,565  (5,792)  14,565 

 

The Company's and Group's net financial income from interests for the current year amounted to HRK 447 

thousand (2019: the Company's and Groups’ net income amounted to HRK 4,852 thousand).  

In 2020, the Company and the Group recorded a net loss from the foreign exchange differences in the amount 

of HRK 6,239 thousand (2019: Company's net gain amounted to HRK 9,713 thousand), as a result of the 

decrease of the exchange rate of the US dollar in relation to Croatian kuna during the year.  
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10. INCOME TAX 
 

 JANAF GROUP  JANAF D.D. 

Income tax  2020. 
 

2019 
 

2020 
 

2019 
        

Current tax 64,104  53,930  64,093  53,904 

Differed tax (648)  4,005  (648)   4,005 

Income tax expense 63,456  57,935  63,445   57,909 

        

Profit before tax 351,559  319,900  351,551  319,819 

Income tax at prescribed rate 63,289  57,587  63,279  57,567 

Effect of permanent differences 167  348  166  342 

Income tax expense 63,456  57,935  63,445   57,909 

 

Income tax has been determined on the basis of taxable profit in accordance with tax regulations in force in the 

countries in which the Group's entities are domiciled. Income tax generated in Croatia is calculated by applying 

the rate of 18% to the taxable profit for the financial year.  

In 2020 the Company and the Group registered a net increase in the deferred tax asset amounting to HRK 648 

thousand (2019: a decrease of HRK 4,005 thousand) relating to the net change on litigation provisions and other 

non-deductible expenses. Total deferred tax assets on 31 December 2020 amounts to HRK 4,256 thousand 

(2019: HRK 3,608 thousand). 

In accordance with the Croatian regulations, the tax authorities may at any time audit the Company's books and 

records for a period of 3 years following the year in which the tax liability is declared and may impose additional 

tax liabilities and penalties. The Group's and the Company's Management is not aware of the circumstances 

which could lead to significant liabilities in this respect.  
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10.  INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 

Changes in deferred tax assets: 

 JANAF GROUP  JANAF D.D. 

 Opening 
balance 

 

Credited/(charge
d) to Statement 

of 
comprehensive 

income 

 Closing 
balance 

 Opening 
balance 

 

Credited/(charg
ed) to 

Statement of 
comprehensive 

income 

 Closing 
balance 

2020            

Provisions for penalty interest 179  (30)  149  179  (30)  149 

Provisions for jubilee awards 418  17  435  418  17  435 

Value adjustments of receivables 1,448  -  1,448  1,448  -  1,448 

Non-deductible expenses for materials and fixed 
tangible assets 

1,546  2  1,548  1,546  2  1,548 

Right-of-use assets 17  9  26  17  9  26 

Other non-deductible provisions -  650  650  -  650  650 

 3,608  648  4,256  3,608  648  4,256 
            

 Opening 
balance 

 

Credited/(charge
d) to Statement 

of 
comprehensive 

income 

 Closing 
balance 

 Opening 
balance 

 

Credited/(charg
ed) to 

Statement of 
comprehensive 

income 

 Closing 
balance 

2019            

Provisions for penalty interest 258  (79)  179  258  (79)  179 

Provisions for jubilee awards 354  64  418  354  64  418 

Value adjustments of receivables 5,509  (4,061)  1,448  5,509  (4,061)  1,448 

Non-deductible expenses for materials and fixed 
tangible assets 

1,492  54  1,546  1,492  54  1,546 

Right-of-use assets -  17  17  -  17  17 

 7,613  (4,005)  3,608  7,613  (4,005)  3,608 
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11.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS OF THE JANAF GROUP  
 

Item description 

Patents, 
licences 

and other 
intangible 

assets 

Assets on 
maritime 
demesne 

Intangible 
assets in 

preparation 

Right-of-
use assets 
- Vehicles 

Total 

            

PURCHASING VALUE           

Balance on 01 January 2019 176,117 382,412 15,396 - 573,925 

Additions - - 21,476 7,326 28,802 

Transfer from assets in preparation 27,469 - (27,469) - - 

Transfer during the year - - - 145 145 

Disposals of assets (157) - - (124) (281) 

Balance on 1 January 2020 203,429 382,412 9,403 7,347 602,591 

Additions - - 49,996 3,904 53,900 

Transfer from assets in preparation 48,554 4,631 (53,184) - 1 

Disposals of assets (778) - - (1,998) (2,776) 

Balance on 31 December 2020 251,205 387,043 6,215 9,253 653,716 

       

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION      

Balance on 1 January 2019 85,551 368,203 - - 453,754 

Depreciation for the period 15,897 1,353 - 2,348 19,598 

Depreciation of disposed assets (157) - - (13) (170) 

Balance on 1 January 2020 101,291 369,556 - 2,335 473,182 

Depreciation for the period 19,357 1,600 - 2,274 23,231 

Depreciation of disposed assets (778) - - (1,694) (2,472) 

Balance on 31 December 2020 119,870 371,156 - 2,915 493,941 

       

Net book value on 31 December 
2020 

131,335 15,887 6,215 6,338 159,775 

       

Net book value on 01 January 2020 102,138 12,856 9,403 5,012 129,409 
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11.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS OF JANAF D.D.  

 

Item description 

Patents, 
licences 

and other 
intangible 

assets 

Assets on 
maritime 
demesne 

Intangible 
assets in 

preparation 

Right-of-
use assets 
- Vehicles 

Total 

            

PURCHASING VALUE      

Balance on 01 January 2019 176,088 382,412 15,396 - 573,896 

Additions - - 21,476 7,326 28,802 

Transfer from assets in preparation 27,469 - (27,469) - - 

Transfer during the year - - - 145 145 

Disposals of assets (157) - - (124) (281) 

Balance on 01 January 2020 203,400 382,412 9,403 7,347 602,562 

Additions - - 49,996 3,904 53,900 

Transfer from assets in preparation 48,554 4,631 (53,184) - 1 

Disposals of assets (778) - - (1,998) (2,776) 

Balance on 31 December 2020 251,176 387,043 6,215 9,253 653,687 

       

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION      

Balance on 1 January 2019 85,522 368,203 - - 453,725 

Depreciation for the period 15,897 1,353 - 2,348 19,598 

Depreciation of disposed assets (157) - - (13) (170) 

Balance on 1 January 2020 101,262 369,556 - 2,335 473,153 

Depreciation for the period 19,357 1,600 - 2,274 23,231 

Depreciation of disposed assets (778) - - (1,694) (2,472) 

Balance on 31 December 2020 119,841 371,156 - 2,915 493,912 

       

Net book value on 31 December 
2020 

131,335 15,887 6,215 6,338 159,775 

       

Net book value on 01 January 
2020 

102,138 12,856 9,403 5,012 129,409 
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11.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS OF JANAF D.D. AND THE JANAF GROUP (CONTINUED) 
 

Patents, licences and other intangible assets 

Patents, licences and other intangible assets mainly consist of investments in monitoring and control system 

software in the amount of HRK 50,714 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 40,623 thousand), the right to use 

an increased connection power in the amount of HRK 25,052 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 25,888 

thousand), the easement right in the amount of HRK 2,549 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 2,549 thousand), 

the licences and other software in the total amount of HRK 36,023 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 22,006 

thousand) and assets on maritime demesne. 

 

Ownership of assets on maritime demesne 

In accordance with the existing law, the assets on maritime demesne are state-owned under the Maritime 

Demesne Concession Agreement concluded in 2003 between the Port Authorities of Rijeka, on behalf of the 

Croatian Government, and the company Jadranski naftovod, d.d. The concession is contracted for a period of 

32 years starting from 4 June 2003. At 31 December 2020 the net book value of assets on maritime demesne 

amounted to HRK 15,887 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 12,856 thousand), which represents 4,1% of the 

purchase cost.   

 

12. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 

General information 

The company rents vehicles and uses them mainly to conduct business activities.  

In each individual contract, the rental period is 4 years. 

Assets 

The item intangible assets relates to assets owned by the Company and rented assets. 

As on the balance sheet date, 31 December 2020, the Company has the right-of-use assets also relating to lease 

contracts of passenger cars. 

New acquisitions of the right-of-use assets during 2020 amount to HRK 3,904 thousand (2019: HRK 145 

thousand).  

Item description 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Interest expense on lease obligations 213 217 

Depreciation of the right-of-use assets 2,274 2,348 

Cost of low value leases 119 127 

Shot-term leases 239  245 
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12. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

 

The entire amount of depreciation relates to the value adjustment of the right-of-use assets on the basis of 

passenger cars lease.  

The Company made the exemption in accordance with provisions of IFRS 16 for low value contracts and short-

term leases.  

Liabilities for the right-of-use assets 

As on the balance sheet date, December 31 2020, the Company has lease liabilities in the amount of HRK 6,473 

thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 5,099 thousand) and they are classified within the item Liabilities for the 

right-of-use assets. 

 Maturity analysis - contracted undiscounted cash outflows 

Maturity analysis 2020 2019 

< 1 year 1,784 1,851 

1-5 years 4,689 3,248 

> 5 years - - 

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 6,881 5,211 

Lease liabilities included in the balance sheet on 31 
December 2019 

6,473 5,099 

The Company estimates that there is no liquidity risk associated with lease liabilities. 

Rent income 

The Company generates rent income in the following categories: 

 Income from operating lease includes: 

Rent income 2020 2019 

Business premises rental 930 370 

Equipment rental 561 922 

The following table shows an analysis of the maturity of future lease payments, showing the undiscounted 

payments that will be received on an annual basis as minimum amounts: 

Income from business premises rental 2020 

1 year 523 

1-2 years 336 
2-3 years 336 

3-4 years 336 

4-5 years 336 

Remaining amount until the end of the contract 4,032 

Total 5,899 

Cash flows from leases 

In 2020, cash flows from leases in operating activities of the Company and the Group amounted to HRK 213 

thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 217 thousand) for interest expenses, and in financial activities HRK 2,226 

thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 2,272 thousand) for lease liabilities. 
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13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT OF THE JANAF GROUP 
 

Item description Land Buildings 
Plant and 

equipment 

Tools, power 
inventory, 

vehicles and 
other 

Prepayments 
for property, 

plant and 
equipment 

Property, 
plant and 

equipment in 
preparation 

Operational 
crude oil and 

other 
tangible 
assets 

Total 

PURCHASING VALUE                 

Balance on 01 January 2019  377,132 5,961,021 1,527,205 69,988 11,437 945,764 242,530 9,135,077 

         - 

Additions  - - - - - 387,074 7,710 394,784 

Transfers from assets in preparation 21 519,216 131,406 6,363 - (657,006) - - 

Transfer on current assets (provisions) - (11) - - - - - (11) 

Increase in prepayments - - - - 55,503 - - 55,503 

Decrease in prepayments - - - - (33,645) - - (33,645) 

Disposals of assets - (5,026) (6,215) (592) - - - (11,833) 

Donations of assets - - - (284) - - - (284) 

Balance on 01 January 2020  377,153 6,475,200 1,652,396 75,475 33,295 675,832 250,240 9,539,591 

         - 

Additions  - - - - - 442,507 9,459 451,966 

Transfers from assets in preparation  163,107 181,350 13,749 - (358,337) 131 - 

Increase in prepayments - - - - 16,065 - - 16,065 

Decrease in prepayments - - - - (40,881) - - (40,881) 

Disposals of assets - (8,814) (19,810) (434) - - - (29,058) 

Donations of assets - - (4) (52) - - - (56) 

Balance on 31 December 2020 377,153 6,629,493 1,813,932 88,738 8,479 760,002 259,830 9,937,627 
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13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT OF THE JANAF GROUP (CONTINUED) 

 

Item description Land Buildings 
Plant and 

equipment 

Tools, power 
inventory, 

vehicles and 
other 

Prepayments 
for property, 

plant and 
equipment 

Property, 
plant and 

equipment in 
preparation 

Operational 
crude oil and 

other 
tangible 
assets 

Total 

                  

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION                 

                  

Balance on 01 January 2019  - 4,546,964 995,206 45,420 - - - 5,587,590 

Depreciation for the period - 66,635 55,436 5,583 - - - 127,654 

Disposals of assets - (5,026) (5,904) (565) - - - (11,495) 

Donations of assets - - - (284) - - - (284) 

Balance on 1 January 2020  - 4,608,573 1,044,738 50,154 - - - 5,703,465 

Depreciation for the period - 78,497 69,332 6,546 - - - 154,375 

Disposals of assets - (7,315) (19,729) (431) - - - (27,475) 

Donations of assets - - (4) (52) - - - (56) 

Balance on 31 December 2020 - 4,679,755 1,094,337 56,217 - - - 5,830,309 

          

Net book value on 31 December 2020 377,153 1,949,738 719,595 32,521 8,479 760,002 259,830 4,107,318 

          

Net book value on 01 January 2020 377,153 1,866,627 607,658 25,321 33,295 675,832 250,240 3,836,126 
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13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT OF JANAF D.D. 
 

Item description Land Buildings 
Plant and 

equipment 

Tools, power 
inventory, 

vehicles and 
other 

Prepayments 
for property, 

plant and 
equipment 

Property, 
plant and 

equipment in 
preparation 

Operational 
crude oil and 

other 
tangible 
assets 

Total 

PURCHASING VALUE         

Balance on 01 January 2019  377,132 5,961,021 1,527,201 69,986 11,437 948,312 242,530 9,137,619 

         - 

Additions  - - - - - 387,127 7,710 394,837 

Transfers from assets in preparation 21 519,216 131,406 6,363 - (657,006) - - 

Transfer on current assets (provisions) - (11) - - - - - (11) 

Increase in prepayments - - - - 55,503 - - 55,503 

Decrease in prepayments - - - - (33,645) - - (33,645) 

Disposals of assets - (5,026) (6,215) (592) - - - (11,833) 

Disposal and donation of assets - - - (284) - - - (284) 

Balance on 01 January 2020  377,153 6,475,200 1,652,392 75,473 33,295 678,433 250,240 9,542,186 

         - 

Additions  - - - - - 442,553 9,459 452,012 

Transfers from assets in preparation  163,107 181,350 13,749 - (358,337) 131 - 

Increase in prepayments - - - - 16,065 - - 16,065 

Decrease in prepayments - - - - (40,881) - - (40,881) 

Disposals of assets - (8,814) (19,810) (434) - - - (29,058) 

Disposal and donation of assets - - (4) (52) - - - (56) 

Balance on 31 December 2020 377,153 6,629,493 1,813,928 88,736 8,479 762,649 259,830 9,940,268 
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13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT OF JANAF D.D. (CONTINUED) 
 

Item description Land Buildings 
Plant and 

equipment 

Tools, power 
inventory, 

vehicles and 
other 

Prepayments 
for property, 

plant and 
equipment 

Property, 
plant and 

equipment in 
preparation 

Operational 
crude oil and 

other 
tangible 
assets 

Total 

                  

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION                 

                  

Balance on 01 January 2019  - 4,546,964 995,203 45,418 - - - 5,587,585 

Depreciation for the period - 66,635 55,435 5,583 - - - 127,653 

Disposals of assets - (5,026) (5,904) (565) - - - (11,495) 

Donations of assets - - - (284) - - - (284) 

Balance on 1 January 2020  - 4,608,573 1,044,734 50,152 - - - 5,703,459 

Depreciation for the period - 78,497 69,332 6,546 - - - 154,375 

Disposals of assets - (7,315) (19,729) (431) - - - (27,475) 

Donations of assets - - (4) (52) - - - (56) 

Balance on 31 December 2020 - 4,679,755 1,094,333 56,215 - - - 5,830,303 

          

Net book value on 31 December 2020 377,153 1,949,738 719,595 32,521 8,479 762,649 259,830 4,109,965 

          

Net book value on 01 January 2020 377,153 1,866,627 607,658 25,321 33,295 678,433 250,240 3,838,727 
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT OF JANAF D.D. AND THE JANAF GROUP (CONTINUED) 

Increase in value of the Group's and the Company's property, plant and equipment is the result of higher value 

of new investments than accumulated depreciation in the current period. Investments in the current year mainly 

relate to investments in the repair of pipelines, in security and protection system, in buildings and equipment at 

the terminals and on the routes, as well as the investments in the new storage place at the Sisak Terminal and 

the overhauls of existing tanks of the Company at Sisak Terminal and Omišalj Terminal. 

In the current year, the pipeline Virje-Lendava, which is no longer in use, was derecognised in off-balance sheet 

records in the amount of HRK 2,308 thousand of purchase value, HRK 808 thousand of value adjustment and 

HRK 1,500 thousand of present value. 

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment in the Company and the Group 

Property, plant and equipment with a purchase cost of HRK 5,267,763 thousand are still in use although they 

have been fully depreciated as of 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: HRK 5,253,535 thousand) of which 

the pipeline with a purchase cost of HRK 3,008,143 thousand is still in operation and is used by the Company to 

perform the underlying oil transportation business. 

In the current year, fully depreciated assets which are no longer in use of total purchase value of HRK 29,816 

thousand, which mainly related to the sanation of tanks, pipelines and electricity power equipment,  have been 

derecognised .  

Commitments 

At the date of the financial statements, the value of the Company’s and the Group’s commitments to purchase 

property, plant and equipment amounts to HRK 135,010 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK  370,784 thousand).  

Operational crude oil 

Operational crude oil is owned by the Group and the Company and it comprises the oil in pipeline and tanks 

which facilitates the transportation of commercial oil. The value of operational crude oil in the amount of HRK 

259,542 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 250,083 thousand) at the date of the financial statements was 

presented at purchase cost i.e. at its historical book value. 

Assets in preparation 

The Company's assets in preparation represent incomplete investments in new tanks, rehabilitation of the main 

pipelines and existing tanks and the security and protection systems and as at 31 December 2020 they amount 

to HRK 762,649 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK  678,433 thousand). In the current year, investments in 

property, plant and equipment were made in the amount of HRK 442,553 thousand, (31 December 2019: HRK 

387,127 thousand), and assets in the value of HRK 358,337 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 657,006 

thousand) were put in use. 
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14.  FINANCIAL ASSETS  

Investments in subsidiaries  

In 2010, JANAF d.d. founded two subsidiaries: JANAF – upravljanje projektima d.o.o., Republic of Croatia, with 

a share capital of HRK 20 thousand, and JANAF-TERMINAL BROD d.o.o. Brod, Bosnia and Herzegovina, with 

a share capital of EUR 1,024. At the 2020 balance sheet date, the investments of JANAF d.d. in subsidiaries 

amounted to HRK 198 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 181 thousand) and comprised equity shares and the 

increase in the share capital of JANAF – upravljanje projektima d.o.o. based on intangible considerations.  

Other non-current financial assets  

 

Other fixed financial assets of the Company in the amount of HRK 50,000 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 

50,000 thousand) relate to the investment in the increase of the share capital of Petrokemija d.d., a fertilizer 

factory from Kutina, in the amount of HRK 50,000 thousand. 

By the process of increasing the share capital of Petrokemija d. d, on the basis of registration and payment of 5 

million regular shares, the Company gained 9.09% of share in the core capital of Petrokemija d.d. The founding 

capital of Petrokemija d.d. was increased by payment for shares in the amount of HRK 450,000 thousand, from 

HRK 100,287 thousand to HRK 550,287 thousand, by issuing new unmaterialised regular shares of the individual 

nominal amount of HRK 10.00. The Company recognises this investment as equity securities at fair value through 

other comprehensive profits because these equity securities constitute investments that the Company intends to 

hold for the long term for strategic purposes.  

 

Current financial assets of JANAF d.d. and the JANAF GROUP 

At the date of the financial statements, the balance of deposits with a term from 3 to 6 months in the Company 

amounted to HRK 36,834 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 47,214 thousand), and in the Group HRK 36,835 

thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 47,216 thousand).. The decrease compared to the previous year results 

mostly from reclassification of cash assets into deposits with maturity up to 3 months classified as cash and cash 

assets. 

 

15.  INVENTORIES 

The inventories of the Company and the Group comprise spare parts and materials in the total amount of HRK 

22,911 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK  19,384 thousand). Inventories of spare parts and maintenance 

supplies are presented at purchase cost while the expense for inventories used is calculated applying the 

weighted average purchase cost method. 

Small inventory and tires are written off when put in use. 
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16.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   

 

  JANAF GROUP         JANAF D.D. 

  
31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Domestic receivables – services, 
unrelated companies 

 116,284  122,790  116,274  122,790 

Impairment losses of financial 
instruments 

  (30,237)  (30,237)   (30,237)  (30,237) 

Net trade receivables  86,047  92,553  86,037  92,553 

Interest receivables on term 
deposits  

 41  284  41  284 

State receivables for overpaid 
tax 

 242  27,140  21  26,915 

Other receivables  1,158  709  1,138  661 

Total other receivables  1,441  28,133  1,200  27,860 

Receivables from related 
parties 

 -   -  5  5 

Total trade and other 
receivables 

 87,488  120,686  87,242  120,418 

At the date of financial statements the Company's total net balance of trade receivables amounted to HRK 86,037 

thousand and the Group's to HRK 86,047 thousand (31 December 2019:  HRK 92,553 thousand for the Company 

and the Group), of which the amount of HRK 79,721 thousand is not yet due. 

Trade receivables are charged in accordance with agreed upon deadlines. Late payments are subject to statutory 

default interest. The contractual due dates range between 15 and 30 days. 

The Group and the Company have a small number of customers to whom they provide their services, mostly 

long-lasting customers who settle their commitments within the specified payment deadlines and with whom no 

additional security instruments were agreed. Prepayment is usually arranged for new or unknown customers 

using oil storage services.  

Movement in the allowance for doubtful trade receivables: 

 JANAF GROUP  JANAF D.D. 

 2020  2019  2020  2019 

Balance on 1 January  30,237  44,766  30,237  44,766 

Increase (Loss from impairment of 
financial instruments) 

-  8,045  -  8,045 

Decrease in doubtful receivables from 
previous periods 

-  (22,574)  -  (22,574) 

Balance on 31 December  30,237  30,237  30,237  30,237 
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16.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 

 
Age analysis of overdue trade receivables, not impaired: 
 
 

 
 

 JANAF GROUP  JANAF D.D. 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Up to 30 days  6,303  4,681  6,303  4,681 

31-60 days -  -  -  - 

61-90 days -  -  -  - 

over 90 days 13  139  13  139 

 6,316  4,820  6,316  4,820 

17.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

 JANAF GROUP  JANAF D.D. 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Deposits with a term up to 3 months 100,000  323,940  100,000  323,940 

Balance on the bank accounts 225,999  92,451  223,778  89,841 

Cash in hand 17  13  15  11 

 326,016  416,404  323,793  413,792 
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18.  SHARE CAPITAL  

On 31 December 2020 the share capital of the Company amounted to HRK 2,952,438 thousand (31 December 

2019: HRK 2,952,438 thousand).. 

On 31 December 2020 the authorised and issued share capital consisted of 1,007,658 ordinary A-series shares 

(31 December 2019: 1,007,658 shares) with a nominal value of HRK 2,930 each (31 December 2019: HRK 

2.930). 

During 2020, the market value of the shares ranged from HRK 3,700 to HRK 5,000. 

The structure of the share capital at the date of the financial statements was as follows:  

 
  

31/12/2020 

 

31/12/2019 

  

Number 
of 

shares 

 %  
Number 

of shares 
 % 

MINISTRY OF STATE PROPERTY / Croatian 
State Pension Fund 

 375,440  37.26  375,440  37.26 

CERP (Croatian Centre for Restructuring and 
Sale) 

 264,812  26.28  264,812  26.28 

MINISTRY OF PHYSICAL PLANNING, 
CONSTRUCTION AND STATE ASSETS / 
Republic of Croatia 

 150,844  14.97  150,844  14.97 

INA – Industrija nafte d.d. Zagreb (oil company)  118,855  11.80  118,855  11.80 

HEP d.d. (Croatian Electricity Company)  53,981  5.36  53,981  5.36 

Other private and institutional investors  43,726  4.33  43,726  4.33 

  1,007,658  100.00  1,007,658  100.00 
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19.  RESERVES  

  JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  
31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

 
31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Share premium 
 54  54  54  54 

Legal reserves 
 110,300  97,204  110,300  97,204 

Other reserves 
 643,937  519,535  643,942  519,535 

  754,291  616,793  754,296  616,793 

 

The Company's legal reserves comprise 5% of the realized profit, reduced by the carried forward loss in 2002 

and the profit  realized in the period from 2003 to 2020. Other reserves of the Company result mainly from 

distributed profit from previous years based on the decisions of the Company's Supervisory and Management 

boards. 

 

20.  RETAINED EARNINGS 

On 31 December 2020, retained earnings of the Company amounted to HRK 571,982 thousand (31 December 

2019: HRK 522,222 thousand), and of the Group HRK 572,216 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 522,435 

thousand). 

 

 
21. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 
In 2020, the Company generated a profit for the year in the amount of HRK 288,106 thousand (2019: HRK 

261,910 thousand), and the Group generated a profit for the year in the amount of HRK 288,103 thousand (2019: 

HRK  261,965 thousand). 

Earnings per share are based on the net result of the ordinary shareholder and the number of ordinary shares 

and were calculated as follows: 

  
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 
 

31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Profit after tax  288,103  261,965  288,106  261,910 

Weighted average number of 
issued and paid-in shares 

 1,007,658  1,007,658  1,007,658  1,007,658 

Earnings per share (basic 
and diluted) in HRK 

 285.91  259.97  285.92  259.92 
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22.  PROVISIONS 

  
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  
31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Unused vacation accruals and 
other provisions for employees 

 7,148  3,825  7,148  3,825 

Jubilee awards and severance 
costs 

 7,115  7,055  7,115  7,055 

Litigations   3,184  3,775  3,184  3,775 

  17,447  14,655  17,447  14,655 

 

Provisions in the amount of HRK 3,184 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 3,775 thousand) relate to legal 

actions pending against the Company and other damages and disputes with employees. 

The amounts of reservations are determined on the basis of estimates of the outcome of disputes by external 

attorneys and the Company's Legal Department.  

 

Movement in provisions during the year was as follows:  

  
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  
2020  2019  2020  2019 

Balance on 1 January  14,655  14,783  14,655  14,783 

Decrease of provisions during the 
year 

 (1,066)  (1,343)  (1,066)  (1,343) 

Provisions made during the year  3,858  1,215  3,858  1,215 

Balance on 31 December  17,447  14,655  17,447  14,655 
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23.  OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES  

  
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  
31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Long-term liabilities   78,428  84,955  78,428  84,955 

Liabilities for the right-of-use assets  4,689  3,248  4,689  3,248 

  83,117  88,203  83,117  88,203 

On 31 December 2020, the Group and the Company had an outstanding debt in the amount of USD 12,775 

thousand i.e. HRK 78,428 thousand (31 December 2019: USD 12,775 thousand i.e. HRK 84,955  thousand). 

The change in the amount of long-term liabilities compared to the previous year is the result of calculated 

exchange rate differences. 

Based on the Agreement on Succession Issues signed on 29 June 2001 in Vienna, the successor states of the 

former SFRY have been assigned the division of assets and liabilities in Annex C to the relevant agreement, the 

integral part of which is the stated long-term obligation. The authorized representative of the Republic of Croatia 

in the Committee for the Allocation of Financial Assets and Liabilities under Annex C of the Succession 

Settlement Agreement is the Croatian National Bank.  

Long-term part of the liability for the right-of-use assets amounted to HRK 4,689 thousand on 31 December 2020 

(31 December 2019: HRK 3,248 thousand). 

 

24.  TRADE AND OTHER LIABILITIES 
 

 
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

 
31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Trade liabilities 115,269  150,252  115,107  149,858 

Liabilities for taxes, contributions and 
other fees 

5,580  3,675  5,483  3,588 

Employee liabilities 4,453  4,272  4,342  4,179 

Liabilities for the right-of-use assets 1,784  1,851  1,784  1,851 

Liabilities to related parties -  -  966  735 

VAT liabilities in advance payments 618  848  618  848 

Other liabilities 243  211  242  211 

 127,947  161,109  128,542  161,270 

The stated liabilities refer to the undue liabilities of the Company and the Group. 

Liabilities to employees and related taxes and contributions are paid within 10 days after the end of the month 

for which the salary is paid. Other liabilities are paid in accordance with regulation or stipulated terms. 
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In the current period, liabilities to suppliers decreased by HRK 34,751 thousand for the Company and by HRK 

34,983 thousand for the Group. In 2020, the contracted payment term with suppliers was 45 days (2019: 45 

days). 

 

25.  OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES AND DIFFERED INCOME    

Other current liabilities and deferred income of the Company and the Group on the date of financial statements 

amount to HRK 2,911 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 6,792 thousand), relate to provisions for costs and 

work performed on property, plant and equipment in preparation for which invoices have not been issued, and 

prepaid expenses for future periods. 

 
26.  CONCESSION FEES 

 

The Company has right to a property and equipment under the Concession Agreement described in Note 11 - 

Intangible assets The Concession Agreement has been concluded for a period of 32 years. The concession fee 

has been agreed in US dollars and is payable as from 4 June 2003. In accordance with IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, lease liabilities should be accounted for as embedded derivatives. 

Given that no market values are available for future contracts denominated in USD for periods longer then six 

months, the Company is not able to calculate the fair value of the embedded derivative. Accordingly, the related 

profit and loss will be included in the statement of comprehensive income upon the payment of the concession 

fee.  

The concession fee consists of a fixed and a variable component.  

The fixed component amounts to USD 1,394 per year. The variable component is paid per transported tons as 

follows: 

Transported tons USD/ton 

Up to 7,000,000 0.01 

Up to 10,000,000 0.02 

Over 10,000,000 0.03 

The Maritime Demesne Concession Agreement from 1995 for the underwater pipeline from Omišalj to Urinj has 

been concluded for a period of 40 years. The fee payment is in Euro. In accordance with IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, lease liabilities should be accounted for as embedded derivatives. 

Given that no market values are available for future contracts denominated in Euro for periods beyond six months, 

the Company is not able to calculate the fair value of the embedded derivative. Accordingly, the related profit 

and loss will be included in the statement of comprehensive income upon the payment of the concession fee. 

The concession fee consists of a fixed and a variable component.  

The fixed component of the concession fee amounts to EUR 67,000 per year. The variable component is paid 

per tons transported through the underwater pipeline at a price of 0.03 EUR/t of transported oil. 
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27.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The details and estimates of maximum contingent liabilities that might have to be settled are set out below. The 

Management has no additional information to conclude that the liabilities will have to be settled. In accordance 

with the legal advice, no provisions for these liabilities have been made in these financial statements. The 

amounts below are presented net of potential interest or other court costs because the Management believes 

that no additional liabilities will eventuate. 

Warranties given  

The Company issued the instruments of securing the payment of liabilities in the total amount of HRK 15,851 

thousand and EUR 7,274 thousand. The Company fulfils its duties in accordance with due dates and possibility 

of liability for issued warranties is not expected.  

Claims from the territory of former Yugoslavia  

The Company is the second respondent in proceedings initiated by Oil Refinery Pančevo, Serbia, on the grounds 

of allegedly undelivered oil, with the Republic of Croatia being the first respondent. The proceedings were 

discontinued in 1991 following the outbreak of war in Croatia. The claim amounts to USD 50,1 million. 

The Company is a defendant in an action initiated by Naftagas promet from Novi Sad, Serbia, regarding the 

import of spare parts under a commission agreement. The proceedings were discontinued in 1991 following the 

outbreak of war in Croatia. The claim amounts to USD 231 thousand. 

In the opinion of the Management, these issues will be resolved under succession agreements between the 

Croatian and Serbian governments. The Management of the Company believes that there will be no payments 

of the contingent liabilities.  

Decommission costs 

There is a potential liability that may arise in the future regarding the cost of decommissioning long-term assets 

used in transport and storage of oil. The plausibility of such an event is uncertain on the date of these financial 

statements and the amount of the obligation can not be estimated. 



Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

JANAF d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb  66 

 

28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

In January and February 2021, the Oil Transportation Contract for 2021 was concluded with NIS – Naftna 

industrija Srbije, and the Crude Oil Storage Contract at Omišalj Terminal was concluded with BP Oil International 

Limited. 

 
29.  RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 

During the year, transactions between the Company and related parties and between the Group and related 

parties are presented as follows:  

 JANAF GROUP 

 Service and other 
sales 

 Purchases  Receivables from 
related parties 

 Liabilities to 
related parties 

 2020.  2019  2020  2019  31.12 
2020  

31.12 
2019 

 31.12 
2020  

31.12 
2019 

Related 
companies 

-  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other affiliated 
companies 

60,309  41,898  29,646  26,467  3,464  1,789  3,406  2,847 

INA d.d. 60,228  41,891  1,486  3,615  3,463  1,786  91  112 

HEP d.d. 3  -  26,731  21,151  -  -  3,197  2,625 

Odašiljači i veze 
d.o.o. 

15  7  954  914  1  3  107  100 

Hrvatske vode 6  -  126  320  -  -  -  - 

Others 57  -  349  467  -  -  11  10 

Transactions of the JANAF Group with other affiliated companies are equal to transactions between JANAF D.D. 

and other affiliated companies as presented in the following table:   
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29.  RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

JANAF D.D. 

  
Service and other 

sales 
 Purchases  

Receivables 
from related 

parties 
 

Liabilities to 
related parties 

  
2020.  2019  2020  2019  

31.12 
2020  

31.12 
2019 

 
31.12 
2020  

31.12 
2019 

Related 
companies  

62  61  6,521  4,748  5  5  966  735 

JANAF – 
upravljanje 
projektima 
d.o.o.  

62  58  6,363  4,436  5  5  876  620 

JANAF-
TERMINAL 
BROD d.o.o. 
Brod  

-  3  158  312  -  -  90  115 

Other affiliated 
companies 

 60,309  41,898  29,646  26,467  3,464  1,789  3,406  2,847 

INA d.d.  60,228  41,891  1,486  3,615  3,463  1,786  91  112 

HEP d.d.  3  -  26,731  21,151  -  -  3,197  2,625 

Odašiljači i veze 
d.o.o. 

 15  7  954  914  1  3  107  100 

Hrvatske vode  6  -  126  320  -  -  -  - 

Others  57  -  349  467  -  -  11  10 

Sale of services to, and purchases from related parties have been made under common market conditions.  

Other affiliated companies refer to entities covered by the Decision on Legal Entities of Special Interest for the 

Republic of Croatia. 
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29.  RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 

Key personnel remuneration  

The remuneration paid to key personnel during the year was as follows:  

  
JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  2020  2019   2020  2019 

Gross salaries  5,184  6,399   4,673  5,853 

Gross benefits in kind  787  1,263   778  1,255 

  5,971  7,662   5,451  7,108 

 

On 31 December 2020 the key personnel of the Company comprised two Management Board members and six 

directors (31 December 2019: three Management Board members and six directors), the Head of the 

Management Office, the Chief Legal Corporate Officer and the Head of the Quality Management. As for  the 

Group, the number of key personnel on 31 December 2020 relates to two Management Board members and 

eight directors (31 December 2019: three Management Board members and eight directors) including the above 

mentioned personnel.  

Remuneration of fees to Supervisory Board and Audit Committee Members 

 
  JANAF GROUP  JANAF D.D. 

  2020  2019  2020  2019 

Audit Committee  188  162  188  162 

Supervisory 
Board 

 164  172  164  172 

  352  334  352  334 
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

30.1.  Capital risk management  

The Company and the Group manage their capital with the aim of continuing as a going concern. The capital 

structure of the Company and the Group is presented in Note 18, 19 i 20.  

Gearing ratio 

The Management Board reviews the funding sources on a monthly basis. The funding sources of the Company’s 

regular business and investments are Company’s own cash funds. 

Gearing ratio at the year-end can be presented as follows: 

 

  JANAF GROUP JANAF D.D. 

  31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Debt (i)  78,428  84,955  78,428  84,955 

Cash and cash equivalents (ii)   (326,016)   (416,404)   (323,793)  (413,792) 

Net debt  -  -  -  - 

Equity (iii)  4,567,048  4,353,631  4,566,822  4,353,363 

Net debt-to-equity capital   -  -  -  - 

 

(i) Debt comprises only the other long-term liabilities.The Company and the Group have no current 

borrowings. 

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents comprise only cash on bank accounts and term deposits with maturities of 

up to 3 months. 

(iii) Equity includes share capital, reserves, retained earnings and profit for the year.  
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

30.2. Categories of financial instruments  

  JANAF GROUP  JANAF D.D. 
 31/12/2020  31/12/2019  31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

Financial assets:        

Cash up to three months  326,016  416,404  323,793  413,792 

Loans and receivables  87,559  120,773  87,308  120,500 

Deposits with a term over three months 36,835  47,216  36,834  47,214 

Total financial assets 450,410  584,393  447,935  581,506 

 
Financial liabilities: 

       

Trade and other payables 119,965  154,735  120,657  154,983 

Long-term liabilities 78,428  84,955  78,428  84,955 

Total financial liabilities 198,393  239,690  199,085  239,938 

30.3. Risk exposures 

The Company and the Group are exposed to credit and foreign exchange risk in the course of their ordinary 

business. There is no interest risk. 

Credit risk 

On the date of the financial statements, there was no credit risk either of the Company or the Group. 

Interest rate risk management 

The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk.  

Foreign exchange risk 

The Company and the Group are mainly exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rates of EUR and USD, because 

a significant portion of their trade receivables and sales, cash and long-term borrowings are denominated in 

those currencies. Other assets and other liabilities are mainly denominated in HRK. Foreign exchange risk is 

managed by applying the adopted internal Policy for Financial Risk Management.  



Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

JANAF d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb  71 

 
30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

Foreign exchange risk management 

Set out below is an overview of the Company's and the Group’s cash and liabilities at 31 December denominated 

in foreign currencies, expressed in thousands of Croatian kunas: 

 Assets Liabilities 
 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

USD 187,959 115,469 78,428 84,955 

EUR 31,739 493 - - 

 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

The Company and the Group are exposed mainly to the USD. The following table details the Company’s and the 

Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the USD/HRK exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis 

includes balance of monetary items and long-term liabilities denominated in USD at 31 December and adjusts 

their conversion to HRK at the end of reporting period for the 10% change in the foreign exchange rate. The 

amounts were calculated in thousands of USD and HRK. 

Analysis of 10% increase in the exchange rate      

         

  31/12/2020 
Exchange 

rate   31/12/2019. 
Exchange 

rate   

  USD HRK >10%   USD HRK >10%   

                  

Assets 30,617 187,959 206,755 18,796 17,364 115,469 127,016 11,547 

              

Liabilities 12,775 78,428 86,271 (7,843) 12,775 84,955 93,451 (8,496) 

          

Net effect    10,953    3,051 

         
Analysis of 10% decrease in the exchange 
rate      

         

 31/12/2020 
Exchange 

rate  31/12/2019. 
Exchange 

rate  

  USD HRK <10%   USD HRK >10%   

                  

Assets 30,617 187,959 169,163 (18,796) 17,364 115,469 103,923 (11,547) 

              

Liabilities 12,775 78,428 70,586 7,843 12,775 84,955 76,460 8,496 

          

Net effect    (10,953)    (3,051) 
 

    

The analysis of the sensitivity to the effects of the changes indicates a moderate exchange rate risk. 
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30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Liquidity risk 
 

Responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Management, which sets an appropriate liquidity risk 

management framework with the aim of managing of the short-, medium- and long-term financing and liquidity 

requirements. The Company and the Group manage liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserve of financial 

assets, by continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of 

financial assets and liabilities.  

 

Liquidity risk tables  

 

The tables below show the maturity of the Company's contractual obligations as reported in the Statement of 

financial position at the end of the period. 

The tables have been drawn up on the basis of undiscounted cash outflows on financial liabilities at maturity 

date. They show the cash flows per principle asset.  

 

JANAF GROUP 

 
Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate % 

Up to 
1 

month  

From 1 
to 3 

months  

From 3 
months 

to 1 
year  

From 1 
to 5 

years  

Over 5 
years  Total 

       

2019             

Non-interest bearing - -  154,735  -  84,955  -  239,690 

Interest bearing  -  -  -  -  -  - 

  -  154,735  -  84,955  -  239,690 

2020             

Non-interest bearing - -  119,965  -  78,428  -  198,393 

Interest bearing  -             -        -  -   -  - 

  -  119,965  -  78,428  -  198,393 

 
JANAF D.D. 

 
Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate % 

Up to 
1 

mont
h  

From 1 
to 3 

months  

From 3 
month
s to 1 
year  

From 1 
to 5 

years  

Over 5 
years  Total 

       

2019             

Non-interest 
bearing 

- -  154,983  -  84,955  -  239,938 

Interest bearing  -  -  -  -  -  - 

  -  154,983  -  84,955  -  239,938 

2020             

Non-interest 
bearing 

- -  120,657  -  78,428  -  199,085 

Interest bearing  -             -        -  -   -         -       

  -  120,657  -  78,428  -  199,085 
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
The tables below show the maturity of the Company's and the Group's financial assets as reported in the 

Statement of financial position at the end of the period and confirm the non-existence of the liquidity risk. 

The tables have been drawn up on the basis of undiscounted cash inflows on financial assets at maturity date. 

They show the cash flows per principle asset.  

 

JANAF GROUP 

 Weighted 
average effective 

interest rate % 

Up to 1 
month  

From 1 to 
3 months  

From 3 
months to 

1 year  Total 

2019  
       

Receivables and cash 
on bank accounts 

- 213,237  -  -  213,237 

Deposits and loans 1,13% -  323,940  47,216  371,156 

  213,237  323,940  47,216  584,393 

2020         

Receivables and cash 
on bank accounts 

- 313,575      313,575 

Deposits and loans 0,24%    100,000  36,835  136,835 

  313,575  100,000  36,835  450,410 

 
 

JANAF D.D. 

 Weighted 
average effective 

interest rate % 

Up to 1 
month  

From 1 to 
3 months  

From 3 
months 

to 1 year  Total 

2019  

       

Receivables and cash 
on bank accounts - 

210,352  -  -  210,352 

Deposits and loans 1,13% 
-  323,940  47,214  371,154 

  210,352  323,940  47,214  581,506 

2020  

       

Receivables and cash 
on bank accounts 

- 311,101             -                   -        311,101 

Deposits and loans 0,24%            -        100,000  36,834  136,834 

  311,101  100,000  36,834  447,935 

 

 
 
 
 
 



Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

JANAF d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb  74 

 
30.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

Fair value of financial instruments  

 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:  

 The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded 

on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices, 

 The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with 

generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from known 

market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments. 

As on 31 December 2020, the presented amounts of cash, short term deposits, receivables, short term liabilities, 

accrued expenses, short term loans and other financial instruments correspond to their market value. 

Fair value measurements recognised in the Statement of the financial position  

Fair value of financial instruments is recognised on the basis of below indicated measurements: 

1. 1st level measurements – fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) 

in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

2. 2nd level measurements – fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted 

prices included within the 1st Level that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 

prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

3. 3rd level measurements – fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that 

include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

 

 

Financial instruments and risk management:  

In 2020, the Company has financial assets that need to be assessed at a fair value. The fair value of these assets 

is determined using the 3rd level measurements, those measurement derived by using valuation methods in 

which input data used for asset or liability are not based on observable market data. Since the trading scope of 

these shares on the regulated market of the Zagreb Stock Exchange d.d is insignificant, it amounted to only 

0.28% of the total number of shares, the Company considers that the market price of previously listed shares of 

Petrokemija d.d. as on 31.12.2020. is not a true fair value indicator.  

 

Other reserves 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

The Company has chosen to recognize changes in the fair value of equity investments through other 

comprehensive income. These changes are included in the reserve for the fair value in equity. 

The Company recognizes these amounts in retained earnings as the equity securities are derecognised.  
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31.  NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

As on 31 December 2020, the Company reported a total decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the amount 

of HRK 89,999 thousand (31 December 2019: 25,232 thousand). Positive cash flow in the amount of HRK 

443,313 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK  359,173 thousand) was generated from business activities. 

Negative cash flow from investment activities in the amount of HRK 456,439 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 

295,564 thousand) was generated as a result of higher expenditures for the acquisition of property, plant, 

equipment and intangible assets from interest income and reclassification of time deposits. Financial activities 

recorded a negative cash flow in the amount of dividend paid HRK 74,647 thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 

86,569 thousand) and the effect of lease liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16 in the amount of HRK 2,226 

thousand (31 December 2019: HRK  2,272 thousand) was generated from business activities. 

32.   PUBLICATION OF  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Company will publish audited consolidated and separated financial statements which will be available on 

the Company's official website as well as on the official website of the Zagreb Stock Exchange. 

 
33.   APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

These financial statements were approved by the Management and authorized for issue on 10 March 2021. 
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Pursuant to the Rulebook on the structure and contents of the annual financial statements, dated 20 October 

2016 (the Croatian Official Gazette no 95/2016, 144/20), set out in the tables below are the financial 

statements prepared in accordance with the Rulebook (the Income Statement, including the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position (the Balance Sheet) and the Cash Flow 

Statement). The notes to the financial statements below and the Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s 

Equity are the same as presented in the separate financial statements and have not been included separately 

in the presentation provided below. Only the comparatives for JANAF d.d. are included, as the consolidated 

information, which include the subsidiaries, are presented in the same format, but do not differ significantly in 

terms of the disclosed amounts. 

Income Statement of JANAF D.D.  

 

 

 

Obligator: 89018712265; JADRANSKI  NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Item description EDP 
code 

Notes  
# 

Prior year Current year 

1 2 3 4 5 

I OPERATING REVENUE (EDP 126-130) 125  696,004,899 778,646,906 

    1. Sales to related parties 126  - - 

    2. Sales to non-related parties 127 3 668,677,060 765,611,828 

    3. Income from the use of own products, goods and services 128  - - 

    4. Other operating income from related parties 129 4.29 62,290 62,018 

    5. Other operating income from non-related parties 130 4 27,265,549 12,973,060 

II OPERATING EXPENSES  

     (EDP 132+133+137+141+142+143+146+153) 
131  390,750,566 421,304,208 

    1. Changes in the value of inventories of work in progress and 
finished products 

132  - - 

    2. Material expenses (EDP 134-136) 133 5 123,842,452 124,784,130 

        a) Raw material and supplies  134  32,430,744 38,084,646 

        b) Cost of goods sold  135  - - 

        c) Other external costs  136  91,411,708 86,699,484 

   3. Staff expenses (EDP 138-140) 137 6 80,075,458 81,362,057 

        a) Net salaries and wages 138  45,635,994 47,143,712 

        b) Taxes and contributions out of salaries 139  22,739,648 22,363,850 

        c) Contributions on salaries 140  11,699,816 11,854,495 

   4. Depreciation 141 7 147,251,376 177,606,140 

   5. Other expenses 142 8 27,070,580 26,266,448 

   6. Value adjustment (EDP 144+145) 143 8 775,313 1,601,212 

       a) Long-term assets (other than financial assets) 144 8 337,018 1,583,070 

       b) Current assets (other than financial assets) 145 8 438,295 18,142 

   7. Provisions (EDP 147-152) 146 8 1,214,271 3,858,847 

       a) Provisions for retirement, termination and similar benefits 147  794,021 95,428 

       b) Provisions for taxes 148  - - 

       c) Provisions for litigation in progress 149  420,250 154,044 

       d) Provisions for the rehabilitation of natural resources 150  - - 

       e) Warranty provisions 151  - - 

       f) Other provisions 152  - 3,609,375 

   8. Other operating expenses 153 8 10,521,116 5,825,374 
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Income Statement of JANAF D.D. (CONTINUED) 

Obligator: 89018712265; JADRANSKI  NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Item description EDP 
code 

Notes  
# 

Prior year Current year 

1 2 3 4 5 

III FINANCIAL INCOME (EDP 155-164) 154 9 18,319,773 11,390,364 

     1. Interest income, foreign exchange gains, dividend and 
similar income from related-party transactions 

155  - - 

     2. Interest income, foreign exchange gains, dividend and 
similar income from transactions with third entities and 
individuals 

156  - - 

     3. Income from other long-term investments and loans to 
Group companies 

157  - - 

     4. Other interest income – related companies 158 29 - - 

     5. Foreign exchange gains and other financial income from 
Group companies 

159  278 484 

     6. Income from other non-current financial investments and 
loans 

160  - - 

     7. Other interest income 161  5,082,822 671,964 

     8. Foreign exchange gains and other financial income 162  13,236,673 10,717,916 

     9. Unrealized gains (income) from financial assets 163  - - 

   10. Other financial income 164  - - 

IV FINANCIAL EXPENSES (EDP 166-172) 165 9 3,755,520 17,181,937 

    1. Interest expense and other expenses from related-party 
transactions 

166  - - 

2. Foreign exchange losses and other expenses from related-
party transactions 

167  548 1,573 

3. Interest expense and other expenses from transactions with 
third companies and individuals 

168  13,884 11,841 

4. Foreign exchange losses and other expenses from 
transactions with third companies and individuals 

169  3,523,494 16,955,138 

5. Unrealized losses (expenses) from financial assets 170  - - 

6. Value adjustments of financial asset (net) 171  - - 

7. Other financial expenses 172  217,594 213,385 

V    SHARE IN THE PROFIT FROM PARTICIPATING 
INTERESTS 

173  - - 

VI   SHARE IN THE PROFIT FROM JOINT VENTURES 174  - - 

VII  SHARE IN THE LOSS FROM PARTICIPATING INTERESTS 175  - - 

VIII SHARE IN THE LOSS FROM JOINT VENTURES 176  - - 

IX   TOTAL INCOME (EDP 125+154+173+174) 177  714,324,672 790,037,270 

X    TOTAL EXPENSES (EDP 131+165+175+176) 178  394,506,086 438,486,145 

XI   PROFIT OR LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (AOP 177-178) 179  319,818,586 351,551,125 

   1. Profit before taxation (EDP 177-178) 180  319,818,586 351,551,125 

   2. Loss before taxation (EDP 178-177) 181  - - 

XII  INCOME TAX 182 10 57,908,955 63,445,342 

XIII PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (EDP 179-182) 183 21 261,909,631 288,105,783 

  1. Profit for the period (EDP 179-182) 184   261,909,631 288,105,783 

  2. Loss for the period (EDP 182-179) 185   - - 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (to be completed by an entrepreneur, IFRS obligator, in the case of discontinued 
operations) 
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XIV PROFIT OR LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
BEFORE TAXATION (EDP 187-188) 

186   -  -  

 1. Profit from discontinued operations before taxation 187   -  -  

 2. Loss from discontinued operations before taxation 188   -  -  

Income Statement of JANAF D.D. (CONTINUED) 

Obligator: 89018712265; JADRANSKI  NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Item description EDP 
code 

Notes  
# 

Prior year Current year 

1 2 3 4 5 

XV INCOME TAX FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 189   -  -  

 1. Profit for the period from discontinued operations (EDP 186-
189) 

190   -  -  

 2. Loss for the period from discontinued operations (EDP 189-
186) 

191   -  -  

TOTAL OPERATIONS (to be completed by an entrepreneur, IFRS obligator, in the case of discontinued 
operations) 

XVI PROFIT OR LOSS BEFORE TAXATION  

        (EDP 179+186) 
192   -  -  

 1. Profit before taxation (EDP 192) 193   -  -  

 2. Loss before taxation (EDP 192) 194   -  -  

XVII INCOME TAX (EDP 182+189) 195   -  -  

XVIII PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (EDP 192-195) 196   -  -  

 1. Profit for the period (EDP 192-195) 197   -  -  

 2. Loss for the period (EDP 195-192) 198   -  -  

INCOME STATEMENT SUPPLEMENT (to be completed by an entrepreneur preparing consolidated annual 
accounts) 

XIX PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD (EDP 200+201) 199   -  -  

 1. Attributable to the equity holders of the parent 200   -  -  

 2. Attributable to minority interest 201   -  -  

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (to be completed by an entrepreneur subject to IFRS 
reporting requirements) 

I PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD  202   261,909,631 288,105,783 

II OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/LOSS BEFORE TAX 

(EDP 204-211) 
203   -  -  

1. Exchange rate differences on translation of foreign operations 204   -  -  

2. Movements in reserves on revaluation of non-current tangible 
and intangible assets 

205   -  -  

3. Profit or loss on revaluation of financial assets available for 
sale 

206   -  -  

4. Profit or loss on determining the effectiveness of cash-flow 
hedges 

207   -  -  

5. Profit or loss on determining the effectiveness of hedges of a 
net investment in a foreign operations 

208   -  -  

6. Share in other comprehensive income/loss of associates 209   -  -  

7. Actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit plans 210   -  -  

8. Other non-owner changes in equity 211   -  -  

III TAX ON OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
PERIOD 

212   -  -  

IV NET OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OR LOSS FOR 
THE PERIOD  

      (EDP 203-212) 

213   -  -  

V COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD 214   261,909,631 288,105,783 
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      (EDP 202+213) 

SUPPLEMENT to the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income (to be completed by an entrepreneur 
preparing consolidated annual accounts) 

VI COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD  

      (EDP 216+217) 
215   -  -  

1. Attributable to the equity holders of the parent 216   -  -  

2. Attributable to minority interest 217   -  -  

 
 
 
 
Balance Sheet of  JANAF D.D.  

Obligator: 89018712265; JADRANSKI  NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Item description 
EDP 
code 

Notes  
# 

Prior year 
(net) 

Current year 
(net) 

1 2 3 4 5 

ASSETS 

A)  RECEIVABLES FOR SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL UNPAID 001       

B)  NON-CURRENT ASSETS (EDP 003+010+020+031+036) 002   4,022,012,223 4,324,264,431 

I INTANGIBLE ASSETS (EDP 004-009) 003 11 129,409,346 159,774,673 

    1. Development expenses 004  - - 

    2. Concessions, patents, licences, trade and service marks, 
software and other rights 

005  114,993,876 147,221,750 

    3. Goodwill 006  - - 

    4. Prepayments for purchases of intangible assets 007  - - 

    5. Intangible assets in preparation 008  9,403,535 6,215,205 

    6. Other intangible assets 009 11.12 5,011,935 6,337,718 

II TANGIBLE ASSETS (EDP 011-019) 010 13 3,838,726,660 4,109,964,818 

    1. Land 011  377,153,356 377,153,356 

    2. Buildings 012  1,866,627,244 1,949,737,547 

    3. Plant and equipment  013  607,657,533 719,595,161 

    4. Tools, plant fittings and vehicles 014  25,320,412 32,520,947 

    5. Biological assets 015  - - 

    6. Prepayments for tangible assets 016  33,294,700 8,479,244 

    7. Intangible assets in preparation 017  678,433,369 762,648,820 

    8. Other tangible assets 018  250,240,046 259,829,743 

    9. Investment in property 019  - - 

III NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS (EDP 021-030) 020 14 50,181,263 50,198,027 

     1. Investments in shares of entrepreneurs within the group 021  181,263 198,027 

     2. Investments in other securities of entrepreneurs within the 
group 

022   - - 

     3. Loans, deposits and similar given to entrepreneurs within the 
group 

023   - - 

     4. Investments in shares of companies with participating interest 024   - - 

     5. Investments in other securities of companies with 
participating interest 

025   - - 

     6. Loans, deposits and similar given to companies with 
participating interest 

026   - - 

     7. Investments in securities 027   - - 

     8. Given loans, deposits and similar 028   - - 



Statutory Annual Financial Statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

JANAF d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb  80 

     9. Other investments accounted for by the equity method 029   - - 

   10.  Other non-current financial assets 030   50,000,000 50,000,000 

IV RECEIVABLES (EDP 032-035) 031   86,490 70,871 

     1. Receivables from entrepreneurs within the group  032   - - 

     2. Receivables from companies with participating interest  033   - - 

     3. Trade receivables  034   - - 

     4. Other receivables 035   86,490 70,871 
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Balance Sheet of  JANAF D.D. (CONTINUED) 

Obligator: 89018712265; JADRANSKI  NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Item description 
EDP 
code 

Notes  
# 

Prior year 
(net) 

Current year 
(net) 

1 2 3 4 5 

V DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 036  3,608,464 4,256,042 

C)  CURRENT ASSETS (EDP 038+046+053+063) 037  600,808,000 470,780,541 

I INVENTORIES (EDP 039-045) 038 15 19,383,290 22,910,704 

    1. Raw materials and supplies 039  19,383,290 22,910,704 

    2. Production in progress 040  - - 

    3. Finished products 041  - - 

    4. Merchandise 042  - - 

    5. Prepayments for inventories 043  - - 

    6. Non-current assets held for sale 044  - - 

    7. Biological assets 045  - - 

II RECEIVABLES (EDP 047-052) 046 16 120,418,216 87,242,631 

    1. Receivables from entrepreneurs within the group  047 29 5,340 4,892 

    2. Receivables from companies with participating interest 048  - - 

    3. Trade receivables 049 16 92,553,115 86,037,242 

    4. Amounts due from employees and owners 050 16 14,739 7,289 

    5. Receivables from the State and other institutions 051 16 26,915,281 20,978 

    6. Other receivables 052 16 929,741 1,172,230 

III CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS (EDP 054-062) 053 14 47,214,368 36,834,234 

     1. Investments in shares of entrepreneurs within the group 054  - - 

     2. Investments in other securities of entrepreneurs within the 
group 

055  - - 

     3. Loans, deposits and similar given to entrepreneurs within the 
group 

056  - - 

     4. Equity shares in companies with participating interests 057  - - 

     5. Investments in other securities of companies with 
participating interest 

058  - - 

     6. Loans, deposits and similar given to companies with 
participating interest 

059  - - 

     7. Investments in securities 060  - - 

     8. Given loans, deposits and similar 061  47,214,368 36,834,234 

     9. Other financial assets 062  - - 

IV CASH IN BANKS AND IN HAND 063 17 413,792,126 323,792,972 

D)  PREPAID EXPENSES FOR FUTURE PERIOD AND 
ACCRUED INCOME 

064  1,462,327 3,794,380 

E)  TOTAL ASSETS (EDP 001+002+037+064) 065  4,624,282,550 4,798,839,352 

F)  OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 066  3,167,297,350 2,171,809,907 
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Balance Sheet of  JANAF D.D. (CONTINUED) 

Obligator: 89018712265; JADRANSKI  NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Item description 
EDP 
code 

Notes  
# 

Prior year 
(net) 

Current year 
(net) 

1 2 3 4 5 

LIABILITIES 

A)  CAPITAL AND RESERVES (EDP 068-

070+076+077+081+084+087) 
067   4,353,363,092 4,566,821,571 

I SHARE (SUBSCRIBED) CAPITAL 068 18 2,952,437,940 2,952,437,940 

II CAPITAL RESERVES 069 19 53,585 53,585 

III RESERVES FROM PROFIT (EDP 071+072-073+074+075) 070 19 616,739,530 754,242,087 

     1. Legal reserves 071  97,203,711 110,299,193 

     2. Reserves for own shares 072  - - 

     3. Own shares (deductible item) 073  - - 

     4. Statutory reserves 074  - - 

     5. Other reserves 075  519,535,819 643,942,894 

IV REVALUATION RESERVE 076  - - 

V FAIR VALUE RESERVE (EDP 078-080) 077  - - 

     1. Fair value of financial assets available for sale 078  - - 

     2. Effective portion of cash flow hedges 079  - - 

     3. Effective portion of hedges of the net investment in a foreign 
operation 

080  - - 

VI RETAINED PROFIT OR ACCUMULATED LOSSES (EDP 082-
083) 

081 20 522,222,406 571,982,176 

     1. Retained earnings 082  522,222,406 571,982,176 

     2. Accumulated losses 083  - - 

VII PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR (EDP 085-086) 084 21 261,909,631 288,105,783 

     1. Profit for the year 085  261,909,631 288,105,783 

     2. Loss for the year 086  - - 

VIII NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 087  - - 

B)  PROVISIONS (EDP 089-094) 088 22 14,654,794 17,447,489 

     1. Provisions for retirement benefits, termination benefits and 
similar obligations 

089  10,880,259 14,263,893 

     2. Provisions for taxes 090  - - 

     3. c) Provisions for litigation in progress 091  3,774,535 3,183,596 

     4. Provisions for rehabilitation of natural resources 092  - - 

     5. Provisions for expenses within warranty periods 093  - - 

     6. Other provisions 094  - - 

C)  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (EDP 096-106) 095 23 88,203,201 83,117,057 

     1. Liabilities towards entrepreneurs within the group  096  - - 

     2. Liabilities for loans, deposits and similar within the group 097  - - 

     3. Liabilities to companies with participating interest  098  - - 

     4. Liabilities for loans, deposits and similar to companies with 
participating interests 

099  - - 

     5. Liabilities for loans, deposits and similar 100  - - 

     6. Liabilities to banks and other financial institutions 101  3,248,136 4,688,571 

     7. Liabilities for advances received 102  - - 

     8. Trade liabilities 103  - - 
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     9. Liabilities in respect of securities 104  - - 

Balance Sheet of  JANAF D.D. (CONTINUED) 

Obligator: 89018712265; JADRANSKI  NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Item description 
EDP 
code 

Notes  
# 

Prior year 
(net) 

Current year 
(net) 

1 2 3 4 5 

   10. Other long-term liabilities 105  84,955,065 78,428,486 

   11. Deferred tax liabilities 106  - - 

D)  CURRENT LIABILITIES (EDP 108-121) 107 24 161,269,596 128,542,391 

     1. Liabilities towards entrepreneurs within the group  108 29 735,230 965,973 

     2. Liabilities for loans, deposits and similar within the group 109  - - 

     3. Liabilities to companies with participating interest  110  - - 

     4. Liabilities for loans, deposits and similar to companies with 
participating interests 

111  - - 

     5. Liabilities for loans, deposits and similar 112  - - 

     6. Liabilities to banks and other financial institutions 113  1,850,500 1,783,923 

     7. Liabilities for advances received 114  15,406 15,906 

     8. Trade liabilities 115  149,858,065 115,107,001 

     9. Liabilities in respect of securities 116  - - 

   10. Employee liabilities 117  4,178,532 4,342,588 

   11. Liabilities for taxes, contributions and similar payable fees 118  3,587,651 5,482,843 

   12. Liabilities in respect of profit distributions (dividends payable) 119  165,390 191,683 

   13. Liabilities for non-current assets held for sale 120  - - 

   14. Other current liabilities 121  878,822 652,474 

E) ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 122 25 6,791,867 2,910,844 

F) TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (EDP 

067+088+095+107+122) 
123  4,624,282,550 4,798,839,352 

G)  OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 124   3,167,297,350 2,171,809,907 
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Statement of Cash Flows of JANAF D.D. 
 

Obligator: 89018712265; JADRANSKI  NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Item description 
EDP 
code 

Notes  
# 

Prior year Current year 

1 2 3 4 5 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

1. Profit before tax 001   319,818,586 351,551,125 

2. Adjustments (EDP 003-010): 002   139,846,305 178,081,105 

 a) Depreciation 003   147,251,376 177,606,140 

 b) Gain/loss from sale and value adjustments of non-
current tangible and intangible asset 

004   337,018 1,583,070 

 c) Gain/loss from sale and value adjustments of 
financial asset and unrealized gain/losses 

005   - - 

 d) Interest and dividend income 006   -5,082,823 -671,964 

 e) Interest expense 007   231,478 225,225 

 f) Provisions 008   471,101 3,277,132 

 g) Exchange rate differences (unrealized) 009   -3,361,845 -3,938,498 

 h) Other adjustments for non-cash transactions and 
unrealized gains and losses 

010   - - 

I  Increase or decrease in cash flows before changes in 

working capital 
    (EDP 001+002) 

011   459,664,891 529,632,230 

3. Changes in working capital (EDP 013-016) 012   -24,195,807 -35,874,151 

 a) Decrease/increase in current liabilities 013   19,595,133 -30,500,972 

 b) Increase/decrease in current receivables 014   -63,990,471 33,175,585 

 c) Increase/decrease in inventories 015   2,066,454 -3,527,414 

 d) Other increases/decreases in working capital 016   18,133,077 -35,021,350 

II Cash from operating activities (EDP 011+012) 017   435,469,084 493,758,079 

4. Interest paid 018   -10,223 -11,841 

5. Income tax paid 019   -72,144,348 -62,190,936 

A) NET CHANGE IN CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES (EDP 017-019) 

020   363,314,513 431,555,302 

Cash flows from investing activities 

1. Cash received from sale of non-current tangible and 
intangible assets 

021   280 1,120 

2. Cash received from sale of financial instruments 022   - - 

3. Interest received 023   6,149,415 914,321 

4. Dividends received 024   - - 

5. Cash received from loans repaid and savings 025   - - 

6. Other cash received from investing activities 026   128,747,654 10,380,134 

III Total cash received from investing activities (EDP 021-

026) 
027   134,897,349 11,295,575 

1. Cash paid for purchase of non-current tangible and 
intangible assets 

028   -430,461,262 -467,733,835 

2. Cash paid on acquisition of financial instruments 029   - - 

3. Cash paid for loans and savings deposits for the period 030   - - 

4. Acquisition of subsidiary, less cash acquired 031   - - 

  



Statutory Annual Financial Statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

JANAF d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb  85 

 

Statement of Cash Flows of JANAF D.D. (CONTINUED) 
 

Obligator: 89018712265; JADRANSKI  NAFTOVOD D.D. 

Item description 
EDP 
code 

Notes  
# 

Prior year Current year 

1 2 3 4 5 

5. Other cash used in investing activities 032   - - 

IV Total cash paid for investing activities (EDP 028-032) 033   -430,461,262 -467,733,835 

B) NET CHANGE IN CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES (EDP 027+033) 

034   -295,563,913 -456,438,260 

Cash flows from financing activities 

1. Cash received from increase of share (subscribed) 
capital 

035   - - 

2. Cash received from the issuance of equity and debt 
financial instruments 

036   - - 

3. Cash received from loan principal, loans and other 
borrowings 

037   - - 

4. Other cash receipts from financing activities 038   - - 

V Total cash received from financing activities (EDP 

035-038) 
039   - - 

1. Cash paid for repayments of loan and bond principals 040   - - 

2. Dividends paid 041   -86,567,899 -74,647,304 

3. Cash paid under finance leases  042   -2,271,874 -2,226,233 

4. Cash paid for purchase of own shares 043   - - 

5. Other cash used in financing activities 044   - - 

VI Total cash paid for financing activities (EDP 040-044) 045   -88,839,773 -76,873,537 

C) NET CHANGE IN CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES (EDP 039+045) 

046   -88,839,773 -76,873,537 

1. Unrealized exchange rate differences per cash and cash 
equivalents 

047   -4,143,066 11,757,341 

D) NET CHANGE IN CASH FLOW (EDP 

020+034+046+047) 
048 31  -25,232,239 -89,999,154 

E) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 
THE PERIOD 

049   439,024,365 413,792,126 

F) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE 
PERIOD (EDP 048+049) 

050   413,792,126 323,792,972 
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Reconciliation between Non-statutory annual financial statements and the Statutory annual financial 

statements  

 
In accordance with the Decree on the Structure and Content of the Annual Financial Statements (OG 95/2016, 

144/20), companies preparing IFRS financial statements have the obligation to deliver, for public disclosure 

purposes, their financial statements to the Financial Agency prepared under the Decree (“the Statutory Annual 

Financial Statements“). which represent an alternative presentation of the IFRS annual financial statements 

(for the purpose of public disclosure referred to as the “Non-statutory annual financial statements”). IFRSs 

prescribe the minimum items to be disclosed, depending on the materiality of individual items for the financial 

statement taken as a whole, and a different classification of individual items which give rise to certain 

differences between the structure of the Statutory and the Non-statutory financial statements. 

 

Differences between the Income Statement and the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 

The line item other operating income in the amount of HRK 13,035  thousand (2019: 27,328 thousand) 

includes the following Balance Sheet items: Other operating expenses of the Company in the amount of HRK 

62 thousand (2019: HRK 62 thousand) and other operating income (outside the Group) in the amount of HRK 

12,973 thousand (2019: HRK 27,266 thousand). 

All other items are identical in terms of the description, contents and amounts as well as the structure of the 

notes. 

 

Differences between the Balance Sheet and the Statement of Financial Position 

The line item Other assets in the Statement of Financial Position in the amount of HRK 3,794 thousand (31 

December 2019: HRK 1,463 thousand) relates to prepaid expenses and accrued income presented in the 

Balance Sheet. 

Balance sheet item Deferred payment of expenses and income for the future period amounting to HRK 2,911 

thousand (31 December 2019: HRK 6,792 thousand) in the Statement of Financial Position is presented 

through the item Other liabilities. 

All other items are identical in terms of the description, contents and amounts as well as the structure of the 

notes. 

 

  



Statutory Annual Financial Statements  

For the year ended 31 December 2020 

(all amounts are expressed in thousands of HRK) 

JANAF d.d. and subsidiaries, Zagreb  87 

 

Reconciliation between Non-statutory annual financial statements and the Statutory annual 

statements (continued) 

Differences between the Statutory Cash Flow Statement and the Non-statutory Statement of Cash 

Flows 

In the Non-statutory Statement, Net cash generated from operating activities in the amount of HRK 443,313 

thousand  (2019: HRK 359,173 thousand consists of the following items in the Standard Report: Net cash 

flows from operating activities in the amount of HRK 431,555 thousand (2019: HRK 363,315 thousand), and 

Unrealised exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents in the amount of HRK 11,758 thousand (2019: 

HRK  -4,142 thousand). 

The Statutory Cash Flow Statement shows gross profit in the amount of HRK 351,551 thousand (2019: HRK 

319,819 thousand) and is split in the Non-statutory Statement of Cash Flows into the following two line items: 

Net profit in the amount of HRK 288,106 thousand (2019: HRK 261,910 thousand) and Income tax expense 

in the amount of HRK 63,445 thousand (2019: HRK 57,909 thousand). 

Depreciation reported in the Statutory Cash Flow Statement amounts to HRK 177,606 thousand (2019: HRK 

147,251 thousand) and is split in the Non-statutory Statement of Cash Flows into the following two line items: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment in the amount of HRK 154,375 thousand (2019: HRK 127,653 

thousand) and Depreciation of intangible asset in the amount of HRK 20,957 thousand (2019: HRK 17,250 

thousand) and Depreciation of the right-of-use assets in the amount of HRK 2,274 thousand (2019: HRK 

2,348 thousand).  

In the Statutory Cash Flow Statement, the following items that give a total cash flow decrease in the amount 

of HRK -25,406 thousand (2019: HRK 1,188 thousand) relate to the following items: Gains and losses from 

sales and value adjustments of long-term tangible and intangible assets in the amount of HRK 1,583 thousand 

(2019: HRK 337 thousand) , Interest expenses in the amount of HRK 225 thousand (2019: HRK 232 

thousand), Exchange rates differences in the amount of HRK -3,938 thousand (2019: HRK -3,362 thousand), 

Other increases or decreases in working capital in the amount of HRK -35,021 thousand (2019: HRK 18,133 

thousand), Monetary expenditures for intrests in the amount of HRK -12 thousand (2019: HRK -10 thousand), 

and Unrealised exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents in the amount of HRK 11,757 thousand 

(2019: HRK  -4,142 thousand) was generated from business activities. The items listed above from the 

Statutory Report correspond to the total reduced on the following items in the Non-Statutory Report: Surpluses 

and carrying value of non-current assets in the amount of HRK -7,876 thousand (2019: HRK -7,373 thousand), 

Interest expenses on leases in the amount of HRK 213 thousand (2019: HRK 217 thousand),  Exchange rate 

changes on loans in the amount of HRK -6,526 thousand (2019: HRK 2,309 thousand) and Other reductions 

in receivables in the amount of HRK -11,217 thousand (2019: HRK 16,035 thousand). 

In the Statutory Cash Flow Statement, the line item Cash paid for purchase of tangible and intangible fixed 

assets amounting to HRK -467,733 thousand (2019: -430,461 thousand) includes the following items from 

Non-Statutory Statement: Payments for purchases of property, plant and equipment: HRK -417,737 thousand 

(2019: HRK -408,984 thousand) and Payments for purchases of intangible assets: HRK -49,996 thousand 

(2019: HRK -21,477 thousand)  All other items are identical in terms of the description, contents and amounts 

as well as the structure of the notes. 



  

 

 


